Dual roles for hepatic lectin receptors in the clearance of chilled platelets

Viktoria Rumjantseva



Institute of Biomedicine, Department of Clinical Chemistry and Transfusion Medicine The Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, S-413 45 Göteborg, Sweden Department of Translational Medicine Brigham & Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02115, USA Göteborg and Boston 2009

ABSTRACT.

Platelets for transfusion are stored at room temperature because refrigerated platelets are cleared rapidly from circulation. Room temperature storage causes major inconveniences for blood banks and medical risks for recipients. To address this clinically important problem a macrophage-dependent clearance mechanism was defined for platelets refrigerated < 4 h in buffer. Short-term platelet cooling (< 4 h) leads to exposure of β GlcNAc residues on GPIb α . Exposed β GlcNAc are recognized by lectin domains on hepatic macrophages $\alpha_M\beta_2$, which leads to increased clearance. Capping of exposed β GlcNAc by galactosylation using endogenous galactosyl transferases prevented clearance of short-term cooled platelets. In a follow up clinical study, galactosylation did not improve the circulation of human platelets stored in plasma at 4°C for > 48 h (**Paper 1**). To investigate this different outcome we developed a mouse model for studies of storage of platelet-rich plasma (PRP) at 4°C for 48 h. *In vitro* characterization of the 4°C stored mouse platelets showed similar changes as measured on human platelets after 48 h of refrigeration. Importantly, using the mouse model we demonstrated that galactosylation has no effect on the survival of > 48 h long-term refrigerated mouse platelets (**Paper 1**).

Using the mouse platelet storage model we dissected the clearance mechanism of platelets stored for > 48 h in plasma at 4°C, showing that 48 h refrigerated platelets are removed by an additional macrophage-independent mechanism, i.e. by the hepatic galactose-dependent lectin the Ashwell-Morell Receptor (AMR) (Paper 2). This conclusion was based on the following evidence: (a) macrophage depletion in mice dramatically improved the circulation of 4 h chilled platelets, but not clearance of 48 h refrigerated platelets; (b) streptavidin-POD staining revealed the localization of long-term refrigerated biotinylated platelets in hepatocytes; (c) 48 h refrigeration tremendously increased the binding of the β galactose-recognizing lectin RCA-I to platelets; (d) KO mice lacking Asgpr-1 or Asgpr-2 subunits of the AMR supported 48 h refrigerated platelet circulation; (e) co-injection of asialofetuin, a competitive inhibitor of the AMR, restored the survival of 48 h refrigerated platelets but not of isolated platelets in a hepatocyte culture was prevented by asialofetuin. Circulation of 48 h platelets was markedly improved by removal of the N-terminal domain of GPIb α using O-sialopeptidase (Paper 2).

Platelets from mice lacking the sialyltransferase ST3GalIV were used to investigate the increased clearance of platelets with decreased sialylation. We demonstrated that platelets with increased galactose exposure due to the lack of ST3GalIV expression are also removed by a macrophage-independent mechanism, through AMRs on hepatocytes (**Paper 3**).

In conclusion, our results defined a new hepatic-based clearance mechanism for desialylated platelets, representing the first example of blood cell removal by a non-myeloid cell.

Keywords: platelet storage, Asialoglycoprotein receptor, GPIb α , $\alpha_M\beta_2$, transfusion, clearance ISBN 978-91-628-7943-3

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS.

I. Galactosylation does not prevent the rapid clearance of long-term, 4°C-stored platelets

Hans H. Wandall, Karin M. Hoffmeister, Anne Louise Sørensen, Viktoria **Rumjantseva**, Henrik Clausen, John H. Hartwig, and Sherrill J. Slichter Blood, Mar 2008; 111: 3249 - 3256.

II. Dual roles for hepatic lectin receptors in the clearance of chilled platelets. Viktoria Rumjantseva, Prabhjit K. Grewal, Hans H. Wandall, Emma C. Josefsson, Anne Louise Sørensen, Göran Larson, Jamey D. Marth, John H. Hartwig, Karin M. Hoffmeister. Nature Medicine, 2009; DOI 10.1038/nm.2030

III. Role of sialic acid for platelet life span: exposure of β -galactose results in the rapid clearance of platelets from the circulation by asialoglycoprotein receptor–expressing liver macrophages and hepatocytes

Anne Louise Sørensen, **Viktoria Rumjantseva**, Sara Nayeb-Hashemi, Henrik Clausen, John H. Hartwig, Hans H. Wandall, and Karin M. Hoffmeister. Blood, Aug 2009; 114: 1645 - 1654.

Contents

Abstract	2
List of publications	3
Contents	4
Abbreviations	6
Introduction to platelet life cycle	7
Platelet birth	8
Platelet life	9
Platelet receptors	9
The $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ integrin	9
G-coupled receptor	9
P-selectin and PSGL	9
The von Willebrand factor receptor, $(\text{GPIb}_{\alpha,\beta}/\text{IX})_2\text{V}$	10
GPVI and other collagen receptors	12
Platelet secretion	12
Platelet death	13
Platelet Storage	14
Platelet Function: Cold versus warm platelets	15
In vivo studies of refrigerated human platelets	16
Clearance mechanisms for refrigerated platelets:	
Dual roles for hepatic lectins	17
Platelet Glycobiology	17
Lectin recentors	18
Role of macrophage $\alpha_M\beta_2$ -integrin in refrigerated platelet clearance	10 19
PAPER I	19
PAPER II	20
The role of henatic asialoglyconrotein (Ashwell-Morell) recentor in	20
refrigerated nlatelets clearance	20
The asialoglyconrotein (Ashwell-Morell) recentor	20
Desialylated glycans reside on GPIba following long term refrigeration	20 21
PAPER III	21
Models for sialic acid deficient platelet untake by henatic asialoglycoprotein	-1
Receptor (Asgpr)	22

Methods	22
Platelet preparation	22
Platelet isolation	22
Platelet staining methods	23
Platelet temperature and storage protocols	23
In vivo platelet studies	23
Mouse platelet recovery, survival studies	23
Mouse platelet fate	24
Immunohistology	24
Radioactive-labeled platelet fate	25
Macrophage depletion	25
Platelet clearance inhibition studies using asialofetuin and fetuin	26
<i>In vitro</i> platelet ingestion studies	26
In vitro HepG2 based platelet ingestion assay	26
Studies of platelets surface glycoproteins involved in platelet-hepatocyte	
interaction	27
Removal of the extracellular domain of GPIba	27
Measurement of glycan exposure on platelet surfaces	27
Detection of bound vWf to transfused platelets	28

Disscussion	29
Macrophage versus hepatocyte mediated platelet clearance Glycans in transfusion medicine	31 32
Concluding remarks	34
Acknowledgment	36
References	37

ABBREVIATIONS.

Ab	antibody
$\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$	(GPIIb-IIIa, CD41/CD61)
$\alpha_M \beta_2$	(Mac-1, CR3, CD11b/CD18)
Asgpr	Asialoglycoprotein receptor
AMR	Ashwell-Morell receptor
β-Gal	β galactose
β-GlcNAc	β -D-GlcNAc-1-Me, methylated β -N-acetylglucosamine
CMTMR	5-(and-6)-(((4-chloromethyl)benzoyl)amino)tetramethylrhodamine
CMFDA	5-chloromethylfluorescein diacetate
CRP	collagen related peptide
C-T	carboxyl-terminal
DMS	demarcation membrane system
EM	electron microscopy
FcR	Fc receptor
FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate
GPIba	glycoprotein Iba
GT	glycosyltransferase
h	hours
HepG2	hepatocellular carcinoma, human
IP	immunoprecipitation
ICAM	intercellular adhesion molecule
ITAM	immunorecepor tyrosine-based activation motif
KO	knock out
LRR	leucine rich repeat
Man	mannose
mAb	monoclonal antibody
Min	minute
MGL	macrophage galactose lectin
N-I	amino-terminal
	open canalicular system
	protonic activated recenter
I AN DF	phycoerythrin
I L PRP	platelet rich plasma
PS	phosphatidyl serine
RCA-I	ricinus communis agglutinin
RT	room-temperature
SR	scavenger recentor
s-WGA	succinvlated wheat germ agglutinin
THP-1 cells	human monocytic cell line
TRAP	thrombin receptor activating peptide
WT	wild-type
vWf	von Willebrand factor
vWfR	von Willebrand factor receptor, $(\text{GPIb}_{\alpha,\beta}/\text{IX})_2\text{V}$

INTRODUCTION TO THE PLATELET LIFE CYCLE.



Fig. 1 Platelet lifespan. Platelets derive from precusor bone marrow megakaryocytes and are released as anuclear discs into the bloodstream. Upon injury or inflammation, platelet rolling is initiated by binding of GPIb α (the α -chain of the von Willebrand factor receptor complex) to von Willebrand factor (vWf) exposed on subendothelium. Further platelet adhesion and activation is mediated though GPVI binding to collagen, mediating platelet shape change, activation and granule release. Firm platelet adhesion is substantiated by $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ -integrin binding to vWf and fibrinogen, inducing further platelet activation and thrombus formation. During their lifespan platelets fragment, lose terminal gycan residues such as sialic acids, and are eventually removed by macrophages and hepatocytes in the liver and spleen.

Platelets, anuclear discoid cell fragments that measure $2-4 \mu m$ in diameter, are released from megakaryocytes and circulate in blood as small discs with a half-life of 8-10 days in humans and 4-5 days in mice. Unequivocally, platelets are crucial for hemostasis and coagulation. Emerging literature increasingly suggests that platelets not only regulate hemostatic events but also play a substantial role in inflammation, metastasis and tumor growth. The following chapters will briefly address platelet birth, life and death (Fig. 1).

Platelet birth.

Megakaryocytes differentiate from hematopoietic stem cell precursor cells in the bone marrow [1-3]. The primary signal for megakaryocyte production and differentiation is thrombopoietin (TPO). TPO is sufficient but not necessary [4] for inducing differentiation of progenitor cells in the bone marrow towards a final megakaryocyte phenotype. Other molecular signals for megakaryocyte differentiation include GM-CSF, IL-3, IL-6, IL-11, chemokines (SDF-1; FGF-4) [5], and erythropoietin [6]. During their differentiation, megakaryocytes undergo endomitosis and become polyploid through repeated cycles of DNA replication without cell division [7]. The megakaryocyte cytoplasm continues to expand and the DNA complement can increase up to 64N.

After the process of endomitosis is completed, the megakaryocyte begins a maturation stage in which the cytoplasm rapidly fills with platelet-specific proteins, organelles and membrane systems that will be ultimately subdivided and packaged into platelets. During the stage of maturation the megakaryocyte acquires its distinct ultrastructural features, including the development of a demarcation membrane system, the assembly of a dense tubular system, and the formation of granules [8]. However, the mechanisms by which megakaryocytes form and release platelets remain poorly understood. Interestingly, there is a remarkable contrast between the relative paucity of megakaryocytes in normal bone marrow and the relative abundance of platelets in peripheral blood. This contrast implies that platelet assembly and release processes are highly dynamic and efficient.

The prevalent model for thrombopoiesis is the proplatelet model [2, 9], which receives support mostly from megakaryocyte differentiation cultures [10, 11]. This model proposes that megakaryocytes extend plump pseudopodia that give rise to long (>100- μ m) branched proplatelet processes that appear "beaded" by virtue of intermediate swellings [10-12]. It is unclear whether proplatelets detach from megakaryocytes in a bulk and fragment further into platelets [6], or whether barbell-shaped platelet pairs detach exclusively from proplatelet ends [12]. The second model is the platelet territory model which proposes that "platelet-vesicles" form internally from demarcation membranes and are released as mature platelets into the blood stream [13, 14]. However, recently platelet production was observed *in vivo*, confirming the concept of proplatelet formation *in vivo* [15]. The investigators observed that megakaryocytes extended dynamic proplatelet-like protrusions into microvessels which appeared to be sheared from their trans-endothelial stems by flowing blood, resulting in the appearance of proplatelets in peripheral blood [15]. However, this observation remains purely descriptive and lacks insight into the mechanism of platelet formation.

Platelet life.

Platelet dysfunction or low blood count predisposes to hemorrhage, while platelet hyperactivation increases the risk of thrombosis. Once platelets are activated, they respond rapidly and in a sequential fashion to chemical and physical agents by changing shape, binding, spreading, secreting granules and aggregating to promote wound closure and healing [16, 17]. The following section will briefly address the complex process of granule release and the function of major platelet receptors (Fig. 1).

Platelet receptors.

Platelet adhesion, activation and aggregation are mediated by specific surface receptors that include integrins, such as the fibrinogen receptor $\alpha IIb\beta_3$; the leucine-rich von Willebrand factor receptor, $(GPIb_{\alpha,\beta}/IX)_2V$; and the immunoglobulin-family receptors such as GPVI and P-selectin. The major glycoproteins in circulating platelets are the Willebrand factor receptor (vWfR) and the fibrinogen receptor $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ (GPIIb-IIIa or CD41/CD61) which interact with both soluble and tethered ligands to activate platelets[18].

The $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ integrin.

Integrins are non-covalent heterodimers composed of α - and β -subunits that mediate cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions. $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ integrin is a calcium-dependent receptor for fibrinogen, and it is essential for platelet aggregation. $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ integrin expression is restricted to platelets and megakaryocytes. $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ has a very low affinity for fibrinogen on resting platelets [19]; however, after platelet activation, $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ receives signals from inside the cell to rapidly change its conformation to bind fibrinogen with high affinity. Its absence or deficiency leads to Glanzmann thrombocytopenia, a rare hematopoietic disorder associated with moderate to severe bleeding tendency and normal platelet morphology [18].

G-coupled receptors.

Thrombin is a potent activator of platelets *in vivo*. When added to platelets *in vitro*, it causes phosphoinositide hydrolysis, which leads to an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration, shape change, granule release, and aggregation. Thrombin also suppresses cAMP synthesis in platelets by inhibiting adenylate cyclase [20]. All of these effects require that thrombin be proteolytically active. The PAR class of receptors has a distinctive mechanism of activation involving specific cleavage of the N-terminal extracellular domain. This exposes a new N-terminus, which by refolding acts as a ligand to the receptor. The first human thrombin receptor to be identified was PAR-1 [21]. Subsequently, other PAR receptors, PAR-2[22], PAR-3 [23] and PAR-4 [24] have been identified. Mouse platelets express only PAR-3 and PAR-4 while human platelets express PAR- 1 and PAR-4, although PAR-1 appears to be the primary thrombin receptor on human platelets at low thrombin concentrations. The differential role of these receptors remains to be elucidated.

P-selectin and PSGL-1.

Selectins are cell adhesion molecules expressed on platelets, endothelial cells and lymphocytes. They belong to the C-type lectin family. There are three types of selectins: P-,

E- and L-selectins. Platelets and endothelial cells express P-selectin on the membrane of their α -granules and in Weibel-Palade bodies, respectively. P-selectin moves to the membrane surface during platelet and endothelial cell activation and plays an essential role in the initial recruitment of white blood cells to the site of injury during inflammation [25]. A well-characterized ligand for P-selectin is PSGL-1, which is a mucin-type glycoprotein expressed on all white blood cells as well as on platelets [25, 26]. The affinity between the lectin-like domain of P-selectin and carbohydrate residues and sulfated tyrosines present on PSGL-1 mediates the adhesion and rolling of white blood cells along the blood vessel wall and allows white blood cells to leave the blood vessel and enter the site of inflammation [27].

The von Willebrand factor receptor, $(\text{GPIb}_{\alpha,\beta}/\text{IX})_2\text{V}$.

The von Willebrand factor receptor, $(\text{GPIb}_{\alpha,\beta}/\text{IX})_2\text{V}$, is a complex of 4 polypeptides: GPIb α , GPIb β , GPIX and GPV [28-30] (Fig. 2). It belongs to the leucine-rich family of proteins and consists of four distinct transmembrane subunits: GPIb α , connected to GPIb β by a disulfide bond, and the non-covalently associated GPIX and GPV. This receptor complex is present at



Fig. 2 Von Willebrand factor receptor (vWfR) complex. The vWfR complex consists of four subunits GPIb α , GPIb β , GPIX and GPV. Filamin binds to the cytoplasmic tail of the GPIb α subunit and links the vWfR complex to actin cytoskeleton (F-actin). vWf binds to GPIb α under high shear stress and triggers activation of multiple signaling proteins.

~25,000-30,000 copies per platelet surface. In resting platelets, this highly glycosylatedvon Willebrand factor receptor (vWfR) complex is linked to underlying actin filaments by filamin A molecules [31]. The vWfR complex mediates activation and platelet adhesion to collagenbound vWf under high shear rates. Absence or deficiency of GPIb α , GPIb β or GPIX is responsible for Bernard-Soulier Syndrome, a bleeding diathesis characterized by severe thrombocytopenia with abnormally large platelets and impaired platelet adhesion [32].



Schematic diagram of the human von Willebrand factor receptor subunit GPIb α typical, complete N-glycan identified on GPIb α is shown (insert).

The α -subunit, GPIb α , is the best-described subunit of the vWfR. It is a type I membranespanning subunit containing an external N-terminal, ligand-binding domain which includes leucine rich loops, an anionic peptide sequence with three tyrosine residues, a sialomucin core with multiple O-glycans, a transmembrane domain and a cytoplasmic tail (Fig. 3) [32]. The extracellular N-terminal domain of GPIb α contains the binding site for vWf and interacts with various other ligands such as thrombin, platelet P-selectin, and neutrophil/macrophage β 2 integrin $\alpha_M\beta_2$ (Mac-1, CD11b/CD18) [32] [33], an integrin activated leukocytes use to adhere firmly to platelets. After vessel wall injury, platelet GPIb-IX-V mediates the initial adhesion contact to vWf bound to collagen within the exposed vascular subendothelium under arterial shear rates, allowing platelets to roll at much slower velocities.

The collagen receptor GPVI.

GPVI is the major signaling receptor for collagen on the platelets[34, 35] and it is coupled to a disulfide-linked Fc receptor (FcR) γ -chain homodimer in the membrane of human platelets [36]. Each FcR-chain contains one copy of the immunoreceptor tyrosine based activation motif (ITAM) that undergoes tyrosine phosphorylation by Src family kinases upon crosslinking of GPVI. This leads to binding and activation of the tyrosine kinase Syk, and initiates downstream signaling events. PLC γ 2 is recognized as a central target for this signaling cascade [37].

Platelet secretion.

Platelets contain three major types of granules: α -granules, dense granules and lysosomes. Platelet secretion or exocytosis releases molecules at the site of injury to activate other cells or to facilitate cellular adhesion [38-40]. Platelets secrete molecules from intracellular granules. These molecules play central roles in hemostasis, thrombosis, and vascular remodeling [41-44].

 α -granules contain adhesive proteins such as vWf, fibrinogen, thrombospondin, and glycoprotein receptors such as the vWfR or the fibrinogen receptor α IIb β_3 embedded in their membranes [45, 46]. Additionally, α -granules contain several growth factors, such as insulinlike growth factor 1, platelet-derived growth factor TGF β , platelet factor 4 (a heparin-binding chemokine) and the adhesion molecule P-selectin [47-49]. Emerging literature documents that α -granules are packed differentially and that their molecular composition may come from different sources [50]. For example, vWf is primarily produced by megakaryocytes, while fibrinogen is believed to be endocytocytized from its surroundings during differentiation followed by packaging into α -granules [51, 52]. Granule secretion has been proposed to be regulated differentially [44], implying a highly regulated system of granule release.

Dense granules are smaller than α -granules, serve as pools for intracellular calcium, and contain molecules such as adenine nucleotides (ADP and ATP), serotonin, histamin, and granulophysin [16, 17, 53]. Surprisingly, recent reports indicated that dense granules also contain proteins such as P-selectin, which were originally attributed to α -granules only [54]. This indicates that our current understanding of granule formation and status is only preliminary (Fig. 4).

Platelet death.

Until recently, the only well-established mechanisms affecting platelet survival were antibody-mediated platelet clearance [55, 56], consumption of platelets by coagulation reactions, and loss due to massive bleeding. Clearance of senile platelets is believed to occur primarily in the spleen and liver and be mediated by macrophages. However, the signals regulating platelet clearance mechanisms are poorly understood. Platelets manipulated *in vitro* to express high levels of phosphatidylserine (PS) on their surfaces are rapidly ingested by macrophages *in vitro* [57]. Apoptotic mechanisms associated with senescent platelets lead to loss of mitochondrial membrane potential and subsequent distribution of phospholipids



Fig. 4

Secretion. Upon activation, platelets undergo shape change and release dense and α -granule contents.

with increased phosphatidylserine exposure. However, it is unclear if those events are related to *in vivo* survival [58, 59]. In recent years, it has become increasingly apparent that the production of platelets and their subsequent life span in circulation are regulated, at least in part, by apoptotic mechanisms. The review by Kile *et al.* examines the role of the intrinsic apoptosis pathway, regulated by the Bcl-2 family of proteins in platelet biology [60].

Platelet sizes are heterogeneous in blood. It has been postulated that size may be related to platelet age. *In vivo* data show that when platelet fragments are shed by megakaryocytes they certainly exceed normal platelet dimensions [15]. It is therefore likely that younger platelets are larger and are homeostatically more active because of their increased granule content [61-63] [8]. While platelets circulate, their average platelet size and density declines [64], which presumably reflects the loss of membrane, granules and RNA [65, 66]. It is therefore possible

that platelets are continuously "active/secretive" while circulating, shedding their plasma membrane components and granule contents to continuously promote vascular integrity and prevent bleeding, as consistently observed during thrombocytopenia. Such a process could contribute to the "aging/dying" process of circulating platelets. Whether such shedding plays a role in clearance is unknown, although conditions that lead to micro-vesiculation also lead to the activation of platelet calpain and promote the up-regulation of PS to the cell surface [8]. However, activation *per se* or platelet shape-change does not alter platelet survival [67-69].

Two additional phenomena were proposed to be associated with platelet aging: 1) sialic acid loss from terminal glycans [70] and 2) accumulation of IgG on platelet surfaces following the removal of sialic acid [71, 72]. However, the extent to which the two events contribute to platelet clearance has not been demonstrated.

PLATELET STORAGE.

The invention of platelet transfusions has allowed tremendous advancements in hematopoetic progenitor cell transplantations and chemotherapy, procedures often accompanied by severe thrombocytopenia and bleeding. However, therapeutic advances led to a disproportional demand for platelet transfusions [73] which perpetuated the demands on transfusion agencies. Improved platelet storage has permitted millions of transfusions per year, yet current blood banking practices for platelets are far from ideal. In 1969, Murphy and Gardner demonstrated that transfused human platelets stored at 4°C are rapidly cleared from circulation [74, 75]. They and others showed that platelets stored at room temperature (22°C) show significantly better recovery and survival, with a typical life span of 7-9 days versus only 2-4 days for refrigerated platelets [74, 75] [76, 77]. This odd phenomenon of chilled platelet clearance has had profound consequences for blood banking. For decades, all platelet products have been stored at room temperature, and because of the attendant risk of bacterial growth, platelet storage has been limited to five days.

Refrigerated storage of platelet products would theoretically reduce the risk of bacterial growth [78, 79], permitting extended storage of platelets and bolstering product inventories. Competing technologies are now under development and might ultimately lessen the impact of these potential benefits [80]. For example, platelet bacterial testing may lead to the safe extension of room temperature storage of platelets [81]. Pathogen reduction technology could virtually eliminate not only bacteria, but viral and protozoal pathogens as well [82, 83]. Furthermore, improvements in platelet storage—such as second-generation storage containers with better O₂/CO₂ exchange and bigger platelet storage volumes—have stabilized pH values and resulted in better platelet viability [76, 84-86]. Storage of platelets in synthetic media (platelet additive solutions) may further reduce platelet metabolic rate and inhibit platelet activation during storage [87-89]. Although the usage of platelet additive solutions may be successful, this assessment is mostly based on *in vitro* studies. Only limited clinical evaluations have been published that either study the effectiveness of platelets in initially developed platelet additive solutions, or were specifically done in combination with pathogen reduction technologies. More clinical studies are needed to substantiate *in vitro* results before platelet additive solutions may safely replace plasma and allow extended storage with maintenance of quality [88, 90].

Does platelet refrigeration offer any unique advantages? It is possible, although yet unproven, that 4°C storage could yield platelet products with clinically superior hemostatic function relative to their counterparts after extended storage at room temperature (i.e. > 5 days).

Platelet function: cold versus warm platelets.

To be clinically effective, transfused platelets must (1) circulate and (2) function in clotting (i.e. prevent or stop bleeding). Currently, the gold standard test to evaluate platelet products is *in vivo* survival and count increment of transfused radiolabeled platelets [91, 92]. It is assumed that if a platelet product circulates normally, it should function appropriately. However, both parameters fail to assess the functional quality of transfused platelets. Furthermore, efficacy of a transfused platelet product is clearly patient-dependent, complicating the assessment of platelet functionality [93]. Unequivocally, clinical experience shows that platelet transfusions work. Improvements in treatment have rendered fatal hemorrhage considerably less common today, although thrombocytopenic patients receiving prophylactic transfusions in randomized platelet "trigger" trials have had clinically significant bleeding complications (WHO Grades 2-4) at rates of 17-21.5% irrespective of study arm [94, 95]. It seems therefore reasonable to question if higher functioning platelet products could reduce current bleeding rates.

Platelets are metabolically active during room temperature storage, a factor that continuously diminishes platelet function. Metabolic products such as lactate accumulate during room temperature storage and precipitate a fall in pH [96]. pH levels below 6.0-6.2 have been associated with severely diminished platelet viability [92, 97-100]. In contrast, there is minimal lactate accumulation and no reduction in pH levels at 4°C [101, 102]. Platelets undoubtedly become activated during room temperature storage [103-107]. Key mediators of thrombosis stored in the α -granules of resting platelets, such as β -thromboglobulin and platelet factor 4, accumulate in the platelet storage medium over time [108]. Moreover, platelet surface P-selectin expression increases during room temperature storage [109], indicating that platelets continuously release their granule content, i.e. become activated.

Whether cooling itself causes platelet activation is controversial. In many ways, platelets stored at 4°C seem to be less activated than platelets stored at room temperature. For example, 4°C platelet storage does not lead to β-thromboglobulin release into the storage medium [108]. On the other hand, platelet chilling induces rapid, irreversible disc-to-sphere shape change [110]. Also, P-selectin exposure indicates α -granule content release [111-114]. P-selectin exposure had initially been suggested to accelerate platelet clearance [103, 105, 113]; however, despite initial enthusiasm for the use of P-selectin as a marker of platelet quality in transfusion settings, P-selectin levels do not predict platelet survival after transfusion [67, 68, 105, 106]. Studies using platelets lacking P-selectin [68] or platelets activated with thrombin [67, 115] revealed that P-selectin exposure or loss of platelet discoid shape had no effect on platelet clearance. Conversely, spherical platelets characteristic in mice lacking *β*1-tubulin circulate normally [69, 112, 116]. Uncapping and fragmentation of actin filaments is one prerequisite for conversion of platelet discs to spheres following cooling [117]. However, preservation of discoid shape using actin-remodeling inhibitors did not diminish refrigerated platelet clearance [69, 112, 116]. Taken together, these studies show that preservation of platelet discoid shape does not predict platelet survival.

Phosphatidyl serine exposure and loss of the vWfR complex α -chain (GPIb α) following storage occur independent of the storage temperature [105, 111, 113, 118-121]. Unfortunately, it appears that as of today none of the measured surface markers reliably predicts platelet survival.

It is assumed that both the retention of platelet discoid shape (as measured photometrically by the extent of shape change) and hypotonic shock response (indicating metabolic efficacy) report on platelet viability [96, 122-124]. Not surprisingly, platelets stored at room temperature perform better in both tests because platelets rapidly lose their "discoid shape" when chilled, implying that refrigerated platelets are not metabolically efficient and viable [75, 110, 124]. However, most investigators agree that 4°C stored platelet products show better pH stability [101, 102], a reduced rate of glycolysis, and a better response when stimulated by ADP, epinephrine or collagen than do room temperature stored platelets [75, 125]. These results imply that refrigerated platelets function better.

In vivo studies of refrigerated human platelets.

One key concept that has emerged from recent refrigerated platelet studies is that a platelet's ability to survive normally in circulation may be entirely separable from its ability to function in blood clotting [112]. This concept challenges the "old" conclusion that refrigerated platelets are removed from the circulation because they do not function.

A small number of human studies performed in the early 1970s suggest that platelets stored at 4°C have better *in vivo* function than room temperature platelets despite having poor survival in the circulation. Becker, Aster and colleagues [75] tested the effects of platelets refrigerated for \leq 72 h in 68 thrombocytopenic patients. The patients, with pre-transfusion bleeding times of >15 minutes, were given fresh platelet concentrates, room temperature platelet concentrates that had been stored for 24, 48 or 72 hours, or 4°C platelet concentrates that had been stored for equivalent periods. Bleeding times were measured one hour after transfusion. Platelets refrigerated for 48 or 72 hours corrected the bleeding time in 63% of cases, while room temperature platelets stored for an equivalent period corrected the bleeding time in only 24% of patients. In similar studies performed in aspirin-treated volunteers, bleeding times were corrected almost to baseline within four hours after transfusion with 4°C platelets. In contrast, almost no effect was seen at this early timepoint in subjects receiving platelets stored at room temperature for 72 hours. At 24 hours post-transfusion, substantial correction of the bleeding time was seen in the recipients of room temperature platelets [75] [77]. Another study showed that refrigerated (\leq 72hrs) platelets transfused into 41 leukemia patients were clinically effective (i.e. stopped bleeding) and were considered "safe" in over 100 transfused patients [126]. Similar observations were made by Handin and Valeri [127], who found that room temperature platelets corrected the bleeding time of aspirin treated volunteers 24 hours post-transfusion but had no effect immediately post-transfusion. Together, this evidence suggests that loss of *in vitro* platelet function may be reversible upon transfusion [127]. Based on these studies, the suggestion was made that platelets specifically intended to treat acute/active bleeding (i.e. trauma or surgical patients) should be stored at 4°C, while platelets used for bleeding prophylaxis should be stored at room temperature [124, 128].

However, this approach never gained acceptance, as studies performed subsequently failed to confirm that transfused room temperature platelets showed a significant delay in hemostatic function. A study by Slichter and Harker showed that room temperature platelets consistently corrected the bleeding times of aplastic thrombocytopenic patients within $2\frac{1}{2}$ hours. In contrast, refrigerated (< 72 hours) platelets corrected the bleeding time in 6/8 cases shortly post-transfusion, but the effect was not sustained beyond 2 1/2 hours [76] [129]. Filip and Aster repeated the bleeding time experiments done previously in their laboratory [129] by administering either room temperature or 4°C platelets to 41 thrombocytopenic patients. They reported that platelets stored at room temperature for 24 hours produced the greatest



Fig. 5 Detection of exposed glycan residues using lectins. Sequential loss of terminal sialic acid or galactose residues exposes underlying galactose or β GlcNAc, respectively. Galactose or β GlcNAc residues are detectable with RCA-I or s-WGA lectins, respectively.

bleeding time correction one hour posttransfusion, while platelets stored at 4°C for 72 hours yielded the least bleeding time correction, although the difference was not statistically significant. The investigators attributed the relative ineffectiveness of room temperature platelets in their earlier study to inadequate (low) storage volume [76].

The sole reason platelets are currently stored at room temperature is that chilled platelets do not circulate for an acceptable period of time in the recipient. It appears that the mechanisms dictating platelet removal from circulation, including for refrigerated platelets, are independent of platelet function and remain poorly understood.

CLEARANCE MECHANISMS FOR REFRIGERATED PLATELETS: DUAL ROLES FOR HEPATIC LECTINS.

Platelet glycobiology.

Glycosylation is a posttranslational modification of proteins and lipids by

attachment of oligoscharids through N- or O-linkage. Except for cytosolic O-GlcNAc glycosylation [130], glycosylation is confined to the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi apparatus. During modification, individual carbohydrate residues are added sequentially by glycosyltransferases. The synthesis of glycoconjugates is generally completed by addition of sialic acid or fucose which cap the structures and prevent further chain elongation (Fig. 5) [131]. Glycoconjugates without these terminal structures (also known as "immature" glycans) expose underlying incomplete carbohydrates such as β Galatose (β Gal) and β GlcNAc residues. Immature glycans are produced and presented on cell surfaces when their biosynthesis is affected, for instance in cancer cells. In contrast, the surface of normal mammalian cells is decorated with completed mature glycans. Glycans play essential roles in

cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions under physiological and pathophysiological conditions such as leukocyte trafficking and cancer metastasis [132].

One of the major glycoproteins on the platelet surface is GPIb α , which contains 60% of the total platelet glycan content, typically with up to four N-linked core-fucosylated glycans (two located within the N-terminus [133]) and O-linked glycans within the mucin rich region [134]. The glycans' structures and their localization are indicated in Fig. 3. Normally, glycans on GP1b α are fully sialylated when completely assembled. However, upon refrigeration, loss of sialic acid exposes subterminal glycans such as β Gal or β GlcNAc. Such residues are detectable by their binding to specific lectins, for example *Ricinus communis* agglutinin (RCA) I and succinylated wheat germ agglutinin (s-WGA) (Fig 5). GPIb α N-terminal region and its N-linked carbohydrates have been implicated in the clearance of refrigerated platelets [135], [136]. However, it needs to be determined if GPIb α and it's carbohydrate play a role in clearance of aging platelets *in vivo*.

Lectin receptors.

Lectins are sugar-binding proteins, highly specific for their sugar moieties. They typically play a role in biological recognition of cells and glycoproteins. Lectins have different biological functions ranging from regulation of cell adhesion to glycoprotein synthesis and the control of protein levels in the blood. In general it is believed that desialvlated serum glycoproteins have drastically reduced survivals [137], a phenomenon originally demonstrated for desialylated ceruloplasmin [138, 139]. Resialylation significantly prolonged the survival of ceruloplasmin, pointing to the importance of sialic acid in preventing removal by βGal recognizing receptors (Asgpr) [140]. The C-type lectin family consists of two galactose-recognizing receptors: the hepatic Ashwell-Morell receptor [141, 142] [143] and the macrophage scavenger receptor [144-146]. Both receptors show overlapping specificity and may function in parallel with each other [147, 148]. Unexpectedly, recent studies showed that Ashwell-Morell receptors not only recognize and clear desialvlated proteins. but also mediate the clearance of sialic acid-deficient platelets [136, 149, 150]. Earlier, we demonstrated another unexpected macrophage-lectin based platelet clearance mechanism. We showed that the $\alpha_M \beta_2$ integrin removes refrigerated platelets from the circulation by recognizing exposed β GlcNAc residues. Two major functions are attributed to $\alpha_M \beta_2$ (or CR3, CD11b/CD18, MAC-1). First, it mediates adhesion and migration of leukocytes into inflammatory sites in tissues via binding to the intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-1) expressed on stimulated endothelium [151]. Second, $\alpha_M \beta_2$ serves as a phagocytic receptor for the iC3b fragment of complement [152]. $\alpha_M \beta_2$ also contains a cation-independent sugarbinding lectin-site [153, 154] which either recognizes microbial surface polysaccharides or binds to GPI-linked signaling partners, thereby promoting phagocytosis of microbes [155]. That $\alpha_M \beta_2$ and the Ashwell-Morell receptor mediate platelet clearance mechanisms is surprising and unexpected due to the size differences between platelets and proteins or bacteria. Whether the Ashwell-Morell receptor on hepatocytes or the $\alpha_M\beta_2$ integrin are also involved in removal of senile platelets remains to be established. In the following paragraphs we will elucidate the fine interplay of two lectin receptors in the removal of sialic acid deficient platelets from the circulation.

Role of the macrophage $\alpha_M \beta_2$ -integrin in refrigerated platelet clearance.

Earlier, we reported that the macrophage carbohydrate-binding $\alpha_M \beta_2$ recognizes clustered GPIba subunits of the vWfR complex following short-term refrigeration (2 h, 0°C), which results in the phagocytosis and clearance of platelets in vivo in mice and in vitro by human THP-1 macrophages [33, 112, 135, 156]. Experiments using $\alpha_M\beta_2$ deficient mice [68] markedly improved the survival of refrigerated platelets. Removal of GPIba's ligand binding-domain using the O-sialoglycoprotein endopeptidase restored the circulation of refrigerated mouse wild-type platelets, which indicates that the external domain of GPIba initiates clearance [112]. Subsequent work narrowed carbohydrate recognition by $\alpha_M \beta_2$ to exposed βGlcNAc (β-N-acetylglucosamine) residues on N-linked GPIbα glycans (Fig. 3) [33, 135]. To remedy the poor circulation of refrigerated platelets a "capping strategy adding galactose residues to exposed β -GlcNAc residues" (galactosylation) was attempted. Surprisingly, both human and mouse platelets have functional platelet galactosyltransferase(s) on their surface. These enzyme(s) respond to the simple addition of UDP-galactose by transferring galactose onto exposed ßGlcNAc residues of human or mouse GPIba [135]. Galactosylation markedly improved the survival of mouse platelets refrigerated for 2 hours [135]. Galactosylation therefore provided a simple approach to improve refrigerated platelet circulation.

While depriving the $\alpha_M\beta_2$ lectin-domain of its β GlcNAc ligand on refrigerated platelets, galactosylation theoretically provides a new ligand for Asgprs. Hence, it was surprising that refrigerated mouse platelet circulation could be improved by galactosylation. It was postulated that the number of exposed β GlcNAc residues on GPIb α was small, such that even after clustering and galactosylation, the galactose density was insufficient to engage galactose-recognizing lectins [135].

PAPER I.

A clinical trial was performed using apheresis platelets refrigerated for 48 h. This phase-I clinical trial administered autologous, radiolabeled, galactosylated apheresis platelets refrigerated for 48 h into human volunteers. The results clearly showed that the galactosylation procedure did not extend their circulation time [119]. For logistical reasons, the early studies used isolated platelets and had not stored mouse platelets for clearance studies longer than hours. In contrast, platelets for transfusion were stored for days in platelet rich plasma. Consequently, the question arises if the mouse and human models differ and if prolonged platelet refrigeration led to a new clearance mechanism. We therefore developed a mini-bag methodology (Fig. 6) to support the storage of mouse platelet-rich plasma (PRP) at 4°C for up to 48 h. When mouse platelet-rich plasma was stored in mini-bags, a gradual loss of recoveries and survivals with longer storage times at 4°C was observed [119]. In vitro characterization of the 4°C stored mouse platelets demonstrated stable pH, but some increase in P-selectin exposure (18.1 ± 2.8 compared to 5.9 ± 1.4 % binding for fresh platelets) and moderate increase in annexin V binding $(5.9\pm1.4 \text{ compared with } 2.3\pm0.6 \text{ \% binding for fresh})$ platelets). Importantly, using a mouse transfusion system we subsequently found that just as with human platelets stored in plasma, galactosylation has no effect on the survival of > 48 h long-term refrigerated mouse platelets [119]. Furthermore, galactosylated mouse platelets stored for 48 hrs in plasma did not show improved circulation time when transfused into

 $\alpha_M \beta_2$ integrin deficient mice [119]. These results suggested that different mechanisms are involved in the clearance of platelets refrigerated for days.

PAPER II.

The role of the hepatic Asialoglycoprotein (Ashwell-Morell) receptor in refrigerated platelet clearance.

Using the mouse transfusion model, we have dissected the clearance mechanism for platelets refrigerated for > 48 h in plasma. We have found that as with short-term cooling, biotinylated or radiolabeled platelets refrigerated for 48 h in plasma (designated throughout the following text as long-term refrigerated platelets) are removed from the recipients' circulation by the liver [136, 157] but, unexpectedly by hepatocytes [136] and not by Kupffer cells (macrophages), as we previously reported for short-term cooled isolated platelets [112]. The in situ finding that hepatocytes can ingest long-term refrigerated platelets was confirmed using cultured hepatocyte cell lines (HepG2 cells) and human platelet concentrates refrigerated for up to 10 days. Further evidence that long-term refrigerated platelets are ingested by hepatocytes and not by macrophages was obtained by purging recipient mice of mature hepatic and splenic macrophages by injecting toxic clodronateencapsulated liposomes [158] prior to transfusions of fresh room temperature platelets or short- or long-term refrigerated and/or galactosylated platelets. As expected, removal of macrophages greatly improved recovery and survival of short-term cooled platelets, which confirmed our earlier results. In contrast, the recovery and survival of long-term refrigerated platelets were not affected by macrophage depletion, thus showing that removal of long-term refrigerated platelets is macrophage-independent and rather mediated by hepatocytes [136]. Interestingly, these studies also revealed that macrophages rapidly remove a large fraction of transfused fresh room temperature [136]. This result possibly reflects the detection of damage inflicted during isolation, consistent with a loss of ~30-40% platelet recovery that observed following the transfusion of fresh platelets into healthy volunteers [119].

The Asialoglycoprotein (Ashwell-Morell) receptor.

How does the hepatic galactose lectin or the Ashwell-Morell receptor recognize long-term refrigerated platelets? We reported that short-term cooled platelets have exposed/clustered β GlcNAc residues that are recognized and phagocytozed by the $\alpha_M\beta_2$ hepatic macrophage receptors [112, 135]. In contrast, platelets refrigerated for long periods have severely increased galactose exposure, as evidenced by the galactose-binding lectins (RCA-I and ECA), which suggests a ligand for the hepatic Asiologycoprotein receptor. Consistent with this hypothesis, experiments using mice lacking Asgr-1 or Asgr-2 subunits of the Ashwell-Morell receptor showed a significantly improved recovery and circulation of long-term refrigerated platelets. Similarly, co-injection of asialofetuin, a competitive inhibitor of the Ashwell-Morell receptor, restored the recovery and circulation of long-term refrigerated platelets, but not of short-term refrigerated platelets. Conversely, asialofetuin inhibited phagocytosis of human platelets refrigerated for up to 10 days by HepG2 cells in vitro [136]. Not surprisingly, long-term refrigerated and galactosylated platelets are cleared slightly faster independent of macrophage depletion [136]. Our studies, combined with a recent report by Grewal et al., point out the importance of a hepatic-based platelet removal system that uses the Ashwell-Morell receptor to recognize defectively sialylated proteins and remove platelets

which express desialylated glycans on their surface [149, 150] [136]. Whether hepatocytes also remove senile/desialylated platelets remains to be established.

Desialylated glycans reside on GPIba following long-term refrigeration.

We investigated whether GPIb α also plays a role in the removal of long-term refrigerated platelets, as we previously reported for short-term cooled platelets. Two of the putative N-linked glycans are localized within the 45 kDa of GPIb α extracellular domain (Fig. 3) [133]. Removal of the N-terminal 282 residues of GPIb α from human platelets using the snake venom protease mocarhagin [159] or *O*-sialoglycoprotein endopeptidase eliminates two putative N-glycan residues, as well as the vWf-binding region of GPIb α [159]. Removal of GPIb α 's 45 kDa domain from mouse or human platelets significantly restored the circulation of long-term refrigerated wild-type mouse platelets and prevented human platelet ingestion by HepG2 cells *in vitro*, which indicates that most exposed β Gal and β GlcNAc residues reside within the external domain of GPIb α initiating clearance [136]. It is tempting to speculate that most of the exposed β Gal residues reside within N-linked glycans on GPIb α , as shown previously for β GlcNAc [135]. However, it remains to be determined whether N-linked glycans are solely involved in this interaction.

Does GPIb α presentation influence platelet clearance? Platelets from ST3GalIV^{-/-} mice have exposed galactose on surface glycoproteins as they lack α 2-3-sialyltransferase activity [143, 150]. In long-term refrigerated and rewarmed platelets, the mechanism of galactose exposure remains to be determined. Release, or activation, of sialidase activity during storage could cleave terminal sialic acid residues, thus revealing underlying galactose residues. We observed increased clustering of GPIb α with prolonged refrigeration [136]. Hence, clustering of GPIb α subunits in the platelet with cooling might amplify the galactose signal and enhance lectin avidity and binding, as reported earlier for β GlcNAc [135]. However, the functional relationship between GPIb α clustering and platelet clearance by hepatocyte Ashwell-Morell remains to be established, particularly if proteolytic removal of GPIb α 's N-Terminal 45 kDa portion alters clustering.

Are glycoproteins other than GPIbα glycans involved in the clearance of cooled platelets? vWf binding increases with storage [136]. It appears that preferentially desialylated vWf binds to long-term refrigerated platelets, which indicates that desialylation of vWf molecules may promote binding to GPIbα. In support of the notion that desialylated vWf binds better to platelets, we found that despite a 50% reduction of vWf concentration in ST3Gal-IV^{-/-} plasma, binding of deficiently sialylated vWf to the vWfR on WT platelets is enhanced *in vitro* and *in vivo* [149]. Proteolytic removal of the GPIbα N-terminal region deprives GPIbα of its vWf-binding domain and binds less vWf. Whether vWf-glycans contribute to recognition of platelets by Ashwell-Morell receptor remains to be determined.

PAPER III.

Models for sialic acid deficient platelet uptake by hepatic Asialoglyocprotein receptor (Asgpr).

A number of specific sialyltransferase genes have been targeted in mice, and mice deficient in several of these enzymes exhibit defects in the hematopoietic cell lineage [160-162]. In particular, the ST3Gal-IV enzyme that transfers sialic acid in a $\alpha 2,3$ linkage to glycans with terminal Gal β 1-4GlcNAc, Gal β 1-3GlcNAc and Gal β 1-3GalNAc sequences [163, 164] operates as a dominant modifier of hemostasis by concealing asialoglycoprotein ligands on platelets and vWf [160].

The impact of deficient sialylation on platelet clearance following transfusion was tested using the ST3Gal-IV knock out mouse model with autosomal recessive thrombocytopenia. Platelets from ST3GalIV^{-/-} mice lack α 2-3-sialyltransferase (ST3GalIV) activity [160], increasing exposure of penultimate β Gal on vWf and platelets and decreases plasma levels of these to 50% and 30% of normal values, respectively [160]. We have therefore used the ST3GalIV^{-/-} mice as a model to identify if ST3GalIV deficiency leads to similar platelet clearance mechanisms as found for long-term refrigerated platelets.

In mice deficient in the ST3Gal-IV sialyltransferase gene we showed that thrombocytopenia is caused by the recognition of terminal galactose residues exposed on the platelet surface in the absence of sialylation. This results in accelerated clearance of transfused ST3Gal-IV^{-/-} platelets by liver macrophages and hepatocytes [160], a mechanism that was recently shown to induce thrombocytopenia during *S. pneumoniae* sepsis [150]. We also identified platelet GPIb α as a major counter receptor on ST3Gal-IV^{-/-} platelets for asialoglycoprotein receptors, as shown for long-term refrigerated platelets. Moreover, we reported that deficient sialylation increases vWf-mediated platelet activation and suggests that increased binding of deficiently sialylated vWf to platelets contributes to the accelerated clearance of ST3Gal-IV^{-/-} platelets. Taken together the data generated using ST3GalIV deficient mice and long-term refrigerated platelets establish the importance of sialylation for platelet clearance by hepatic lectins and vWf function.

The Sections "Platelet storage" and "Clearance mechanisms for refrigerated platelets: Dual roles for hepatic lectins" will be published as a review article in Transfusion and Apheresis Science, December 2009.

METHODS.

Platelet preparation.

Platelet isolation.

Human and mouse platelets were obtained from whole blood, separated from plasma and other cell components, washed, and resuspended at a concentration of 10⁹/mL in 140 mM NaCl, 3 mM KCl, 0.5 mM MgCl₂, 5 mM NaHCO₃, 10 mM glucose, and 10 mM Hepes, pH 7.4 [112].

Platelet staining methods.

Human and mouse platelets were labeled with 1.8 μ M CellTrackerTM Orange CMTMR, or 2.5 μ M CellTracker Green CMFDA [165] for 20 min at 37 °C. Unincorporated dye was

removed by centrifugation [112]. To study the fate of refrigerated platelets, isolated mouse platelets were biotinylated by incubation with 1 μ g ml⁻¹ Biotin-NHS for 1 h at RT. Unbound biotin was removed by centrifugation. Biotinylated or CMFDA labeled platelets were then resuspended in plasma and stored in mini-bags, as described below, before injection into mice [136].

Platelet temperature and storage protocols.

To study the effects of cold on platelet survival and/or function, isolated platelets were incubated for 2 h at ice bath temperatures, a process designated as short-term cooling or as "0° C", or resuspended in PPP and stored for 48 h at 4 °C (4° C), a process designated as long-term cooling or as "4° C".

In PAPER I a method for mouse platelet storage was developed. Mouse platelets were injected into mini transfusion bags (0.9 mL/transfusion bag) using a 27.5-gauge needle, sealed with a heat sealer (SEBRA, Tucson, AZ), and placed in the dark for 6, 48, or 72 hours



at 4°C without agitation or for 6 hours at room temperature (22°C) on a horizontal table-top shaker rotating at 60 cycles/minute. Platelet mini-bags (Fig. 6) with a storage volume of 1 mL to 2 mL were made by heat-sealing 20-mm by 30-mm squares from gas-permeable platelet storage bags (Gambro BCT, Lakewood, CO). All platelets stored in the cold were rewarmed for 15 minutes at 37 °C before use [119].

In vivo platelet studies.

Mouse platelet recovery, survival studies.

To follow the fate of platelets stored at 0 °C, 4 °C or 22 °C, these platelets were injected into the retro-orbital venous plexus of syngeneic recipient mice. For recovery and survival determinations, blood samples were collected immediately (2 min), and at 5 min, 10 min, 0.5 h, 2 h, 24 h, 48 h, and 72 h. Platelet rich plasma (PRP) was isolated from whole blood and analyzed by flow cytometry (Becton Dickinson Biosciences) and the percentage of CMFDA positive platelets determined [165]. Biotinylated platelets were distinguished from

endogenous platelets by addition of Phycoerythrin (PE) conjugated Streptavidin (PE-Streptavidin). PRP was incubated with PE-Streptavidin for 20 min at room temperature and the percentage of biotinylated platelets was determined by flow cytometry (Fig. 7).



Mouse platelet fate.

Immunohistology.

Mice were infused with $3x10^9$ of biotinylated platelets. Organs were collected at 5, 15, and 30 min and 24 h and were formalin-fixed, embedded in paraffin, and sectioned every 3 μ m.



The distribution of biotin (biotinylated platelets) was visualized using Strepavidin-POD conjugate and ImmunoHistoTM Peroxidase Detection Kit (PIERCE). Sections were counterstained with H&E according to the manufacturer's recommendations. Quantitative analysis of staining was done in blinded samples. Ten tissue sections were selected from

mice with similar levels of injected platelets and scored for hepatocytes and macrophages containing biotinylated platelets (Fig. 8).

Radioactive labeled platelet fate.

To evaluate the fate of platelets, tissues were harvested from recipient mice 1 h after the injection of 0.4 x 10^{9} ¹¹¹Indium-labeled (NEN Life Science Products) platelets. Platelets were radiolabeled after storage as described before [112]. Organ-weight was measured and radioactivity was determined from γ -count. Results are expressed as % radioactivity per g organ relative to the total radioactivity injected. For recovery and survival determinations of radioactive platelets, blood samples were collected immediately (< 2 min), and at 0.5 h, 1 h and 24 h after platelet infusion and γ -count determined [166].



Macrophage depletion.

Mice were depleted of phagocytic cells by a single injection of liposomes containing dichloromethylene bisphosphonate (clodronate liposomes) [158, 167]. Mice were injected intravenously with 0.02 ml of clodronate liposomes per 10 g body weight 24 h prior to platelet transfusions. This treatment depletes 99% of Kupffer cells and 95% of splenic macrophages [158, 167]. Staining for macrophages was performed using an antibody to mouse F4/80 (SEROTEC) in tissue sections of clodronate treated and untreated mice. No F4/80 staining was detected following clodronate-liposome treatment. Control liposomes were prepared with PBS in place of clodronate (Fig. 9).

Platelet clearance inhibition studies using asialofetuin and fetuin.

A bolus of 10 mg asialofetuin or fetuin was injected via the retro-orbital venous plexus into WT C57/Bl6 mice 2 min before the platelet transfusion. Following platelet transfusion, 5 mg asialofetuin or fetuin was injected intravenously at time points of 10, 20, 30 and 60 min. The recipient animals were bled at 2, 10, 30, 90 min and the survival of labeled platelets determined by flow cytometry, as described above.

In vitro platelet ingestion studies.

In vitro HepG2 based platelet ingestion assay.

We maintained human HepG2 hepatocarcinoma cells in α MEM (GIBCO Invotrigen), 2% heat-inactivated bovine calf serum (BCS), 3% standard fetal bovine serum (FBS), and 1% of a penicillin and streptomycin solution composed of 10,000 U ml⁻¹ penicillin G and 10 mg ml⁻¹ streptomycin sulphate. HepG2 cells were not passaged > 2 times before use. For assays, the HepG2 cells were transferred to 24-well plates (10⁶ per well), allowed to adhere for 24 h, and starved for 30 min.



Cytochalasin D (SIGMA) was diluted into α MEM media at the indicated concentrations and added to the HepG2 cells. DMSO was used as control. To study if the AMR mediated the ingestion of platelets in vitro, asialofetuin (competitive asialoglycoprotein receptor inhibitor) and fetuin (control) were diluted into α MEM media at 1, 10 or 100 µg/ml, respectively, and added to the HepG2 cells. 1x10⁸ CM-Orange-labelled platelets (fresh 22 °C platelets or platelets cooled at 0°C or 4 °C) were added per well, with or without cytochalasin D. Hepatocytes and platelets were incubated for 5-30 min at 37 °C with gentle agitation. After the incubation period, the HepG2 cells were dissociated from the wells with 0.05% trypsin, 0.53

mM EDTA in HBSS (GIBCO Invitrogen) at 37 °C for < 10 min. CM-Orange-labeled platelet ingestion was quantified by flow cytometry. HepG2 cells were gated according to their forward and side scatter characteristics. HepG2 with ingested platelets acquired orange fluorescence. Platelets adherent to HepG2 cells were labeled with the FITC conjugated antibody to human CD61 (Fig. 10).

Studies of platelets surface glycoproteins involved in platelet-hepatocyte interaction.

Removal of the extracellular domain of GPIba.

GPIb α was enzymatically cleaved from the surface of human or mouse platelets in platelet buffer containing 1 mM Ca²⁺ and 10 µg ml⁻¹ of the snake venom metalloprotease mocarhagin [168] or 10 µg ml⁻¹ *O*-sialoglycoprotein endopeptidase, respectively (Fig. 3). After the enzymatic digestion, the platelets were washed by centrifugation, resuspended in platelet poor plasma (PPP), and allowed to rest for 30 min at 37 °C before storage at 4 °C. The extent of GPIb α removal was monitored by flow cytometry using 5 µg ml⁻¹ of the FITCconjugated antibody to human GPIb α (clone SZ2) or 5 µg ml⁻¹ of the PE-conjugated antibody to mouse GPIb α (clone Xia.G5).



Measurement of glycan exposure on platelet surfaces.

Fresh 22 °C platelets or platelets stored in platelet buffer for 2 h at 0 °C, or in plasma for 48 h at 4 °C, were diluted 4-fold with platelet buffer, collected by centrifugation at 830 x g for 5 min, and resuspended in platelet buffer at 1×10^7 ml⁻¹. Surface galactose was analyzed by flow cytometry following incubation with FITC-conjugated RCA I or ECA at 0.1 and 10 µg ml⁻¹, respectively. Surface β GlcNAc was measured by incubation with FITC-conjugated s-WGA at 0.1 µg ml⁻¹. Samples were incubated at RT for 20 minutes and diluted 5-fold with platelet buffer before analysis by flow cytometry (Fig. 5).

Detection of bound vWf to transfused platelets.

WT platelets were fluorescently labeled by incubation with 1.8 µM CM-Orange (Invitrogen) and transfused into WT or ST3Gal-IV^{-/-} mice. Blood samples were obtained immediately (1 minute) after transfusion, and vWf binding was measured in PRP by flow cytometry using FITC-conjugated rabbit anti-vWf antibody (Emfret). The percentage of platelets positive for green and orange fluorescence was determined (Fig. 11).

Additional Materials and Methods used in PAPER I, II and III are published [119, 136, 149].

DISCUSSION.

The major focus of this thesis was to determine clearance mechanism for platelets stored at



Fig. 12 Dual roles of lectin receptors in platelet clearance. The von Willebrand factor receptor (vWfR) complex, specifically GPlb α , has complete and incomplete N-linked glycans with exposed β GlcNAc and/or galactose residues. Upon short-term refrigeration, vWfRs and exposed β GlcNAc aggregate, initiating recognition and phagocytosis by the macrophage $\alpha_M\beta_2$ integrin. Extended refrigeration is followed by additional surface changes such as "hyperclustering" of receptors, galactose exposure, and binding of vWf with increased galactose exposure. Increase of galactose density on platelets induces platelet recognition by asialoglycoprotein receptors on hepatocytes (Ashwell-Morell receptors), which recruits clearance mechanisms in addition to macrophage depended platelet clearance through $\alpha_M\beta_2$ integrins.

4°C for 48 hrs in plasma (long-term refrigerated platelets). Our results revealed an unexpected macrophage-independent clearance mechanism for sialic acid deficient platelets mediated by the Ashwell-Morell receptors on hepatocytes [150]. The mechanisms leading to clearance of short- and long-term refrigerated platelets are schematically depicted in Fig. 12. This observation, however, contradicts previously reported data that galactosylation of exposed β GlcNAc residues on short-term refrigerated platelets improves chilled platelet circulation [135]. The original finding that galactosylation rescued the circulation of short-term cooled platelets was rationalized by the hypothesis that exposed β GlcNAc and β Gal only represent a minority of the exposed glycans on the surface of platelets, while the majority of the glycans are fully sialylated, which prevents the recognition of the platelets by different glycan receptor systems.

The amount of immature carbohydrate exposure on the cell surface is critical in eliciting cell clearance by lectins [169]. Sequential transfusions of neuraminidase-treated rabbit platelets into rabbits have shown that >10% of the total platelet surface sialic acid must be removed to elicit recognition by the Asgpr system. In accordance with this notion, we show that exposure of galactose residues [169] increases with storage and refrigeration, although the mechanism of galactose exposure is unclear. It is possible that platelets release active sialidase that can cleave terminal sialic acid residues, revealing underlying galactose residues. Evidence that supports this mechanism is the increased binding of galactose-specific lectins to long-term refrigerated platelets but not to short-term refrigerated platelets. Glycans associated with GPIb α are the major targets of this activity as judged in platelet lysates and GPIba immunoprecipitates from long-term refrigerated platelets. Platelets from ST3GalIV^{-/-} mice have exposed galactose on surface glycoproteins because they lack α 2-3sialvltransferase activity [143, 170]. However, the extent of galactose exposure on refrigerated platelets is less than that present on the surface of ST3GalIV^{+/-} platelets that retain their ability to circulate with normal lifetimes when transfused into WT mice [149], a finding that further substantiates the importance of glycan density and/or presentation for lectin recognition. The observed increase in protein clustering [136], and/or alterations in lipid-glycans following long-term refrigeration, may lead to changes in glycan presentation and density, thus amplifying the galactose signal and allowing recognition by Asgprs. Clustering of GPIb α subunits, as we observed in electron micrographs, increases the localized density of galactose or glycan presentation, which enhances lectin avidity and binding [136]. Clustering in the cold could be facilitated by cytoskeletal and membrane phase changes [171, 172]. It is possible that physiologically functional microdomains present at 37°C aggregate into macrodomains in human blood platelets as they chill below their membrane lipid phase transition temperatures [173, 174].

Deficient sialylation of vWf increases vWf binding to platelets *in vivo* and *in vitro* [133, 140, 146]. This suggests that increased binding of deficiently sialylated vWf to platelets may additionally contribute to the accelerated clearance of ST3Gal-IV^{-/-} platelets and long-term refrigerated platelets. Evidence for the hypothesis that desialylated vWf may contribute to platelet clearance comes from experiments that remove the 45 kDa GPIbα domain which binds to vWf. Removal of the 45 kDa domain restored the circulation of long-term refrigerated platelets and platelets derived from ST3GalIV^{-/-} mice. However, removal of the 45 kDa GPIbα domain does not completely rescue the initial recovery of long-term refrigerated platelets, indicating that other factors influence the initial recovery [136]. Cleavage of the GPIbα by ADAM 17 causes a dramatic loss of platelet recovery following

transfusion [175]. Loss of GPIb α following refrigeration and rewarming could modulate the recoveries of long-term refrigerated platelets. It is therefore possible that desialylation or changes in glycan structure on other highly glycosylated proteins, such as $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$, play a role in the recognition of both long-term refrigerated platelets and ST3GalIV deficient platelets. It remains to be determined if, during storage, platelets release active sialidases, thus affecting sialylation of plasma proteins, glycolipids or plasma proteins such as vWf, fibrinogen or fibronectin. This would affect platelet clearance.

Macrophage versus hepatocyte mediated platelet clearance.

Macrophages initially remove a large fraction of transfused platelets (~40%) [136], indicating their regulatory role in platelet recoveries. Although macrophages are widely regarded as the key phagocytes in regulating platelet clearance [176-178] [136], we have found that fresh platelets isolated from ST3GalIV deficient mice as well as long-term refrigerated and fresh room temperature platelets are cleared even in the absence of macrophages. Macrophage removal in mice somewhat improved platelet recoveries of ST3GalIV^{-/-} platelets and long-term refrigerated platelets. Platelets refrigerated for 48 h have exposed ßGlcNAc residues [135]. Covering exposed ßGlcNAc residues on long-term refrigerated platelets by galactosylation deprives the macrophage β 2-integrin of its ligand, but promotes recognition by Asgprs. Macrophage depletion should therefore improve nongalactosylated short-term cooled platelet survival but have no effect or decrease galactosylated platelet survival. Consistent with these predicted results, we show that nongalactosylated platelet recoveries and survivals are significantly improved and recoveries of long-term refrigerated and galactosylated are further decreased in platelets of macrophagedepleted mice. These results show that that the recoveries of both short-term and long-term cooled platelets are governed by β 2-integrin lectins on macrophages. However, survivals of transfused platelets (independent of their pretreatment) remain unaffected by macrophage depletion, thus revealing a fine interplay between macrophage and hepatic lectin receptors in the removal of platelets. Taken together, these findings imply that platelet lifespan is defined by hepatocyte Ashwell-Morell receptors and that functional macrophages do not play a substantial role in determining platelet survival, but regulate platelet recoveries following platelet transfusion. Interestingly, macrophage depletion had the biggest impact on fresh room temperature platelet recoveries, which implies that "defining" platelet recovery, or the immediate clearance of a transfused platelet, may involve more than lectin-mediated mechanisms. However, we cannot exclude that a small portion of macrophages may still be present following clodronate treatment.

Whether the hepatic-based system also functions to remove senile platelets at the end of their functional life remains to be established. In this case, platelets would lose sialic acid while circulating (aging), possibly due to release of endogenous sialidases. In addition, lifespan is limited by endogenous platelet apoptotic machinery [179] and scavenger receptors. Furthermore, some loss of platelets may also be attributed to platelets that function to ensure vascular integrity, i.e. bind to damaged vessels [180, 181]. How adherent platelet thrombi and debris are removed, if not by macrophages and hepatocytes, remains to be determined.

Multiple hepatic clearance systems contribute to varying extents in clearing soluble epithelial mucins that aberrantly enter circulation. Receptors collaborating in the clearance of human colon carcinoma mucins included the hepatocyte ASGPR (HL-I/II), Kuppfer cell Gal-Rs

(MGL-1 and 2) and Man/GalNAc-4-SO₄-R, endothelial cell Man/GalNAc-4-SO₄-R, hyaluronic acid receptor for endocytosis, and SRs (SRAI/II, SRD, and SRBI). It appears that secretory mucins entering circulation are cleared before they can cause pathologic events, such as those involving platelet and leukocyte aggregation [182]. Whether or not such "complex" high-capacity clearance mechanisms take place in the clearance of "pathologic platelets or platelets with pathologic glycan exposure" has yet to be determined.



Fig. 13 Schematic representation of

ABH antigens.

glycan sequence

antigens of types 1-4, which are terminal neutral glycan sequences found in abundance on glycoproteins and glycolipids (Fig 13). Platelets, like red blood cells and other tissues [183], express ABH antigens on a variety of membrane glycoproteins and glycosphingolipids [184-186]. Clinically, transfusion of ABHincompatible platelets can be associated with decreased recovery, [186, 187] shortened survival [188], and an increased incidence and onset of HLA-immune refractoriness[187, 189]. Platelet activation, including platelet refrigeration, causes structural changes in surface glycoproteins, altering the presentation of immature glycans on the platelet surface (unpublished observation).

The 1930 Nobel Prize in Medicine was awarded to Karl Landsteiner "for his discovery of human blood groups" as the major cause of blood transfusion reactions. The ABH blood group polymorphisms of humans and other primates is determined by expression of A, B or H (O)

Glycans in transfusion medicine.

Incomplete glycans on activated platelets may induce clearance by lectins on phagocytic cells, including antigen-presenting cells, thereby facilitating immune responses leading to alloimmunization following repeated platelet transfusions. On the other hand, "activated platelets" survive normally once transfused [67, 68] indicating that immature glycans may not always be recognized as "pathologic". We did not test if long-term refrigerated platelets bind antibodies or if repeated long-term refrigerated platelet transfusions induce antibody production, a question that should be addressed in the future.

The question remains: Can cooled platelets circulate? Glycans associated with GPIb α and vWf appear to be a major target of sialidase activity. Blocking sialidase activity during refrigeration of long-term stored platelets may be one of approach to prevent sialic acid loss and improve platelet circulation. Once the role and contribution of lectin receptors has been settled, future studies should also investigate if re-glycosylation, i.e. a combination of galactosylation and sialylation of immature platelet surface glycans, can rescue refrigerated platelet survival to accommodate their refrigeration for transfusion. The surprising presence of multiple glycosyltransferases (galactosyltransferases and sialyltransferases) in and on the surface of platelets may have implications for platelet functionality as suggested previously. Specific GPIb α glycans would be altered by specific sialidases and sialyltransferases leading

to lectin-mediated clearance. It is possible that donor sugars and secreted glycosyltransferases regulate platelet function and survival per se. The specific role of neuraminidases and sialyltransferases in platelets needs to be addressed in the future.

CONCLUDING REMARKS.

In an attempt to address the problem of why platelets stored at 4°C do not circulate, forcing platelets to be stored at room temperature for transfusion, we identified novel and unexpected platelet mechanisms. Earlier work showed that the macrophage $\alpha_M\beta_2$ integrin recognizes GPIb α associated β GlcNAc moieties following short-term refrigeration (2 h) in the absence of plasma, resulting in phagocytotic clearance of mice platelets *in vivo*. Galactosylation of β GlcNAc residues blocks the recognition of short-term refrigerated platelets by macrophage $\alpha_M\beta_2$ and allows short-term refrigerated platelets to circulate in mice. However, galactosylation does not prevent the removal of human platelets refrigerated long-term in plasma. The aim of this thesis was to investigate the clearance mechanism of long-term refrigerated platelets in plasma.

The major results of this thesis are:

We developed a mouse model of platelet storage for 48 hours at 4°C and demonstrated that:

- I) UDP-galactose treatment of mouse platelets also did not prevent their rapid clearance in agreement with the human platelet study. These results suggested that exposed β GlcNAc residues were not the sole factor determining the clearance of long-term 4°C stored platelets in either mice or humans. This was confirmed by the rapid clearance of 48 h, 4°C stored galactosylated mouse platelets in $\alpha_M\beta_2$ integrin knockout mice.
- II) In vitro measured surface changes (P-selectin exposure, annexin V binding, von Willebrand factor binding) are comparable between mouse and human platelets stored in plasma for 48 h at 4°C.
- III) Short-term cooling (2 h, 0°C) leads to β GlcNAc exposure, but not to an increased galactose exposure on mouse and human platelets. In contrast, storage of mouse and human platelets in plasma for \geq 48 h at 4°C leads to increase in galactose exposure.
- IV) Exposed galactose residues on platelets are recognized by galactose lectins, specifically by hepatic Asialoglycoprotein (Ashwell-Morell) receptors. These conclusions are based on the following evidence:

a) Macrophage depletion in mice using clodronate encapsulated liposomes significantly improves the circulation of 2 h chilled and transfused platelets but does not prevent the clearance of 48 h refrigerated platelets;

b) Immunohistology revealed abundant location of 48h-refrigerated platelets in liver hepatocytes;

c) Binding of the β Gal-recognizing lectin RCA-I increases by ~1.5-fold following 48 h-refrigeration;

d) Mice lacking Asgr-1 or Asgr-2 subunits of the Asgr1/2 support 48 h-refrigerated platelet circulation times comparable to room temperature stored platelets;

e) Co-injection of asialofetuin, a competitive inhibitor of asialoglycoprotein-receptors, restores the survival of 48 h-refrigerated platelets in wild type mice;

f) The human hepatic cell line (HepG2 cells) ingest fluorescently labeled long-term refrigerated platelets in culture, and asialofetuin prevents this ingestion;

g) The glycosylated GPIbα N-terminal domain (the binding site for von Willebrand factor) on 48 h platelets is a major target for Ashwell-Morell receptor;

h) Circulation of 48 h-refrigerated platelets is markedly improved by removal of GPIbα's Nterminal domain using *O*-sialoglycoprotein peptidase;

i) Immunoblotting of long-term refrigerated platelets revealed that increased galactose exposure is associated with GPIb α 's N-terminus and a protein of the same molecular weight as vWf as defined using an antibody specific for vWf.

V) Using mice lacking sialyltransferase ST3GalIV^{-/-} we determined that clearance of platelets with increased galactose exposure is also mediated by asialoglycoprotein receptors on hepatocytes and macrophages. These conclusions are based on the following evidence:

a) Platelets from ST3Gal-IV^{-/-} have increased exposure of β Gal residues on their surface, as detected by immunoblotting and flow cytometry using peroxidase or FITC labeled RCA I lectin;

b) Immunohistology staining revealed ST3Gal-IV^{-/-} platelets in both hepatocytes and macrophages;

c) Macrophage depletion in WT mice improved transfused ST3Gal-IV^{-/-} platelet recoveries and survivals;

d) Co-injection of asialofetuin, a competitive inhibitor of asialoglycoprotein-receptors, restores the survival of ST3Gal-IV^{-/-} platelets in WT mice;

f) HepG2 cells ingest platelets ST3Gal-IV^{-/-} in culture, and asialofetuin prevents this ingestion;

g) The glycosylated N-terminal domain of GPIb α , the binding site for vWf on ST3Gal-IV^{-/-}, is a major target for asialoglycoprotein receptors;

h) The circulation of ST3Gal-IV^{-/-} platelets is markedly improved by removal of GPIb α 's N-terminal domain using *O*-sialoglycoprotein peptidase, pointing to the fact that increased galactose exposure on the surface of ST3Gal-IV^{-/-} platelet is associated with of GPIb α and vWf;

i) WT mice have increased binding to vWf with sialic acid deficiency *in vivo* and cleared faster upon transfusion.

Using two mouse platelet models with exposed β Gal residues we have shown that clearance of desialylated platelets is mediated by asialoglycoprotein receptors on hepatocytes and to some extent macrophages for ST3GalIV deficient platelets. These results demonstrate a totally unexpected platelet-carbohydrate and lectin based clearance mechanism. It is likely that additional lectin receptors are involved in platelet clearance. It is important to determine if the demonstrated hepatic platelet clearance systems also contribute to "senescent platelet clearance" and to understand why hepatocytes ingest desialylated platelets.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS.

I would like to thank:

Dr. Karin Hoffmeister for inspiration and advise in becoming an independent researcher, for helpful discussions and good ideas, for endless support and mentoring, for funding me, and for believing in me.

Emma Josefsson, Alana Nagle, Antonija Begonja, Suzana Zorca, Sara Nayeb-Hashemi, Max Adelman, Sarah Weber, Gerard Jansen, Renata Grozovsky for good discussions about work or else, lunches, and being good lab friends. *Mike Marchetti, Allen Ehrlihter* for the things above and computer emergency help. *Dr. Herve Falet* and *Dr. Emma Josefsson* for sharing excellent protocols with me, their discussions and being good lab friends, *Dr. Sunita Patel* and *Jen Richardson* for teaching me microscopy and Sunita for your beautiful wedding. *Karen Vengerow* for proofreading text and help with paperwork. *Dr. Hans Wandall* and *Dr. Anne Louise Soerensen* for bringing a Scandinavian touch to the lab, and all other lab members and former members at the Division of Hematology in Boston.

Dr. John Hartwig and *Dr. Thomas Stossel* for inviting me back to the Department of Translational Medicine at Brigham & Women's Hospital for my PhD project, giving me positions at Brigham & Women's Hospital (Research Associate) and Harvard Medical School (Visiting Research Fellow), critically revising manuscripts and abstracts, and commenting on presentations.

Dr. Göran Larson for mentoring me from a distance, your positive attitude, guidance in the process of a obtaining a doctorate at Gothenburg University, meetings, for help with my thesis, stipend applications, and paperwork.

Collaborators:

Dr. Denisa Wagner, Dr. Robert Sackstein, Dr. Sherril Slichter, Dr. Pam Grewal, Dr. Jamey Marth

Thanks for supplying materials: *Dr. M. Berndt*

Family and friends:

My parents *Natalia and Sergej*, for helping me paying my credit card bills, vacations and being my parents. My friends in Sweden: *Julia, Louise, Amanda and Tomas* for being responsible friends, sending me last minute FEDEXs and running errands, *Ingrid and Cia* for staying with me in Boston for some while and great New York trip. Friends in Boston: *Irene, Guro, Maribel* for being my partners in crime and exploring new countries with me. My landlord *Fran* for providing an amazing place to live and a cleaning lady, for waking me up in the morning, always supporting me and being a good friend.

REFERENCES.

- 1. Scurfield, G. and J.M. Radley, *Aspects of platelet formation and release*. Am J Hematol, 1981. **10**(3): p. 285-96.
- 2. Radley, J.M., Scurfield, G., *The Mechanism of Platelet Release*. Blood, 1980. **56**: p. 996-999.
- 3. Behnke, O., *An electron microscope study of the rat megacaryocyte. II. Some aspects of platelet release and microtubules.* J Ultrastruct Res, 1969. **26**(1): p. 111-29.
- 4. Bunting, S., et al., *Normal platelets and megakaryocytes are produced in vivo in the absence of thrombopoietin.* Blood, 1997. **90**(9): p. 3423-9.
- 5. Avecilla, S.T., et al., *Chemokine-mediated interaction of hematopoietic progenitors* with the bone marrow vascular niche is required for thrombopoiesis. Nat Med, 2004. **10**(1): p. 64-71.
- 6. Deutsch, V.R. and A. Tomer, *Megakaryocyte development and platelet production*. Br J Haematol, 2006. **134**(5): p. 453-66.
- 7. Therman, E., G.E. Sarto, and P.A. Stubblefield, *Endomitosis: a reappraisal.* Hum Genet, 1983. **63**(1): p. 13-8.
- 8. Italiano, J., J., Hartwig JH,, *Megakaryocyte development and platelet formation*. 1 ed. Platelets, ed. Michelson, A.,D.,Academic Press/Elsevier, Inc, 2002. p. 21-36.
- 9. Becker, R.P., DeBruyn, P.P., *The Transmural Passage of Blood Cells into Myeloid Sinusoids and the Entry of Platelets into the Sinusoidal Circulation; a Scanning Electron Microscopic Investigation.* Am J Anat, 1976. **145**: p. 1046-1052.
- 10. Choi, E., Janet L. Nichol, Martha M. Hokom, Alex C. Hornkohl, and Pamela Hunt, *Platelets Generated In Vitro From Proplatelet-Displaying Human Megakaryocytes Are Functional.* Blood, 1995. **85**: p. 402-413.
- 11. Cramer, E., et al., *Ultrastructure of platelet formation by human megakaryocytes cultured with the Mpl ligand*. Blood, 1997. **89**: p. 2336-2346.
- Italiano Jr, J., et al., *Blood platelets are assembled principally at the ends of proplatelet processes produced by differentiated megakaryocytes*. J. Cell Biol., 1999.
 147: p. 1299-1312.
- 13. Zucker-Franklin, D. and S. Petursson, *Thrombocytopoiesis analysis by membrane tracer and freeze-fracture studies on fresh human and cultured mouse megakaryocytes.* J. Cell Biol., 1984. **99**: p. 390-402.
- 14. Yamada, E., *The fine structure of the megakaryocyte in the mouse spleen*. Acta Anat (Basel), 1957. **29**(3): p. 267-90.
- 15. Junt, T., et al., *Dynamic visualization of thrombopoiesis within bone marrow*. Science, 2007. **317**(5845): p. 1767-70.
- 16. Hartwig, J.H., *Platelet Structure*, in *Platelets*, A.D. Michelson, Editor. 2002, Academic Press. p. 37-45.
- 17. White, J.G., *The Ultrastructure and Regulatory Mechanisms of Blood Platelets*, in *Blood Platelet Function and Medicinal Chemistry*, A. Lasslo, Editor. 1984, Elsevier Science Publishing Co., Inc. p. 15-55.
- 18. Shattil, S. and P. Newman, *Integrins: dynamic scaffolds for adhesion and signaling in platelets.* Blood., 2004. **104**(6): p. 1606-1615.
- 19. Karlheinz, P., *Platelet Integrin and Signaling*. Platelet Function, ed Quinn, M., Fitzgerald, D., Humana Press, Inc, 2005: p. 21-42.

- 20. Jakobs, K.H., K. Aktories, and G. Schultz, *Mechanism of pertussis toxin action on the adenylate cyclase system. Inhibition of the turn-on reaction of the inhibitory regulatory site.* Eur J Biochem, 1984. **140**(1): p. 177-81.
- 21. Vu, T., et al., *Molecular cloning of a functional thrombin receptor reveals a novel proteolytic mechanism for receptor activation*. Cell, 1991. **64**: p. 1057-1068.
- 22. Nystedt, S., et al., *Molecular cloning and functional expression of the gene encoding the human proteinase-activated receptor 2*. Eur J Biochem, 1995. **232**(1): p. 84-9.
- 23. Ishihara, H., et al., *Protease-activated receptor 3 is a second thrombin receptor in humans*. Nature, 1997. **386**(6624): p. 502-6.
- 24. Xu, W.-F., et al., *Cloning and characterization of human protease-activated receptor 4*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA, 1998. **95**: p. 6642-6646.
- 25. Cambien, B. and D.D. Wagner, *A new role in hemostasis for the adhesion receptor P-selectin.* Trends Mol Med, 2004. **10**(4): p. 179-86.
- 26. Frenette, P., et al., *P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 (PSGL-1) is expressed on platelets and can mediate platelet-endothelial interactions in vivo.* J. Exp. Med., 2000. **191**: p. 1-12.
- 27. McEver, R., *P-Selectin/PSGL-1 and Other Interactions between Platelets, Leucocytes and Endothelium.* Platelets, ed. A. Michelson. 2007, Burlington, MA: Academic press/Elsevier Inc. 231-249.
- 28. Lopez, J., et al., *The a and b chains of human platelet glycoprotein Ib and both transmembrane proteins containing a leucine-rich amino actin sequence.* Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA, 1988. **85**: p. 2135-2139.
- 29. López, J., et al., *Glycoprotein (GP) Ibb is the critical subunit linking GP Iba and GP IX in the GP Ib-IX complex.* J. Biol. Chem., 1994. **269**: p. 23716-23721.
- 30. Li, C., et al., *Expression of platelet glycoprotein (GP) V in heterologous cells and evidence for its association with GP Ib-alpha in forming a GP1b-IX-V complex on the cell surface.* J. Biol. Chem., 1995. **270**: p. 16302-16307.
- 31. Hartwig, J. and M. DeSisto, *The cytoskeleton of the resting human blood platelet: Structure of the membrane skeleton and its attachment to actin filaments.* J. Cell Biol., 1991. **112**: p. 407-425.
- 32. Andrews, R., M. Berndt, and J. López, *The Glycoprotein Ib-IX-V complex*. 2 ed. Platelets, ed. M. AD. 2007, Burlingtom, MA: Academic press/Elsevier, Inc. 145-163.
- 33. Josefsson, E., et al., *The macrophage alphaMbeta2 integrin alphaM lectin domain mediates the phagocytosis of chilled platelets.* J Biol Chem., 2005. **280**(18): p. 18025-18032.
- 34. Clemetson, J., et al., *The platelet collagen receptor glycoprotein VI is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily closely related to FcaR and the natural killer receptor*. J. Biol. Chem., 1999. **274**: p. 29019-29024.
- 35. Nieswandt, B. and S.P. Watson, *Platelet-collagen interaction: is GPVI the central receptor?* Blood, 2003. **102**(2): p. 449-61.
- 36. Bori-Sanz, T., et al., *Delineation of the region in the glycoprotein VI tail required for association with the Fc receptor gamma-chain.* J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(38): p. 35914-22.
- 37. Watson, S.P., et al., *GPVI and integrin alphaIIb beta3 signaling in platelets*. J Thromb Haemost, 2005. **3**(8): p. 1752-62.
- 38. Dale, G.L., et al., *Stimulated platelets use serotonin to enhance their retention of procoagulant proteins on the cell surface*. Nature, 2002. **415**(6868): p. 175-9.

- 39. Reed, G.L., M.L. Fitzgerald, and J. Polgar, *Molecular mechanisms of platelet exocytosis: insights into the "secrete" life of thrombocytes.* Blood, 2000. **96**(10): p. 3334-42.
- 40. Rendu, F. and B. Brohard-Bohn, *The platelet release reaction: granules' constituents, secretion and functions.* Platelets, 2001. **12**(5): p. 261-73.
- 41. Weiss, H.J., et al., *Heterogeneity in storage pool deficiency: studies on granulebound substances in 18 patients including variants deficient in alpha-granules, platelet factor 4, beta-thromboglobulin, and platelet-derived growth factor.* Blood, 1979. **54**(6): p. 1296-319.
- 42. Hermansky, F. and P. Pudlak, *Albinism associated with hemorrhagic diathesis and unusual pigmented reticular cells in the bone marrow: report of two cases with histochemical studies.* Blood, 1959. **14**(2): p. 162-9.
- 43. Huo, Y., et al., *Circulating activated platelets exacerbate atherosclerosis in mice deficient in apolipoprotein E.* Nat Med, 2003. **9**(1): p. 61-7.
- 44. Italiano, J.J., et al., Angiogenesis is regulated by a novel mechanism: Pro- and antiangiogenic proteins are organized into separate platelet {alpha}-granules and differentialy released. Blood., 2007.
- 45. Berger, G., J.M. Masse, and E.M. Cramer, *Alpha-granule membrane mirrors the platelet plasma membrane and contains the glycoproteins Ib, IX, and V.* Blood, 1996. **87**(4): p. 1385-95.
- 46. Cramer, E.M., et al., *Alpha-granule pool of glycoprotein IIb-IIIa in normal and pathologic platelets and megakaryocytes.* Blood, 1990. **75**(6): p. 1220-7.
- 47. Harrison, P., G.F. Savidge, and E.M. Cramer, *The origin and physiological relevance of alpha-granule adhesive proteins*. Br J Haematol, 1990. **74**(2): p. 125-30.
- 48. Zucker, M.B. and I.R. Katz, *Platelet factor 4: production, structure, and physiologic and immunologic action.* Proc Soc Exp Biol Med, 1991. **198**(2): p. 693-702.
- 49. Hoylaerts, M.F., *Ampllification loops: release reaction*. Platelets in Thrombotic and Non-Thrombotic Disorders, ed. Gresele P., et al., Cambridge University Press, 2002: p. 357-368.
- 50. Sehgal, S. and B. Storrie, *Evidence that differential packaging of the major platelet granule proteins von Willebrand factor and fibrinogen can support their differential release.* J Thromb Haemost, 2007. **5**(10): p. 2009-16.
- 51. Heijnen, H.F., et al., *Multivesicular bodies are an intermediate stage in the formation of platelet alpha-granules.* Blood, 1998. **91**(7): p. 2313-25.
- 52. Handagama, P.J. and D.F. Bainton, *Incorporation of a circulating protein into alpha granules of megakaryocytes*. Blood Cells, 1989. **15**(1): p. 59-72.
- 53. Kuter, D.J., *Hemorrhagic Disorders II.Platelets*, in *Hematology*, W.S. Beck, Editor. 1991, The MIT Press. p. 543-574.
- 54. Israels, S., et al., *Platelet dense granule membranes contain both granulophysin and P-selectin (GMP-140).* Blood, 1992. **80**: p. 143-152.
- 55. Bussel B.B., *Immune thrombocytopenic purpura*. 1 ed. Platelets, ed. Michelson, A.,D.,Academic Press/Elsevier, Inc, 2002: p. 831-846.
- 56. Nardi, M.A., Li Z., Karpatkin S., *HIV-1-relateted thrombocytopenia*. 2002: p. 847-860.
- 57. Brown, S., et al., *Constitutive death of platelets leading to scavenger receptormediated phagocytosis. A caspase independent program.* J. Biol. Chem., 2000. 275: p. 5987-5995.

- 58. Pereira, J., et al., *Platelet aging in vivo is associated with activation of apoptotic pathways: studies in a model of suppressed thrombopoiesis in dogs.* Thromb Haemost, 2002. **87**(5): p. 905-9.
- 59. Rand, M.L., et al., *Procoagulant surface exposure and apoptosis in rabbit platelets: association with shortened survival and steady-state senescence.* J Thromb Haemost, 2004. **2**(4): p. 651-9.
- 60. Kile, B.T., *The role of the intrinsic apoptosis pathway in platelet life and death.* J Thromb Haemost, 2009. **7 Suppl 1**: p. 214-7.
- 61. Peng, J., et al., *Aged platelets have an impaired response to thrombin as quantitated by P-selectin expression.* Blood, 1994. **83**(1): p. 161-6.
- 62. Hirsh, J., M.F. Glynn, and J.F. Mustard, *The effect of platelet age on platelet adherence to collagen.* J Clin Invest, 1968. **47**(3): p. 466-73.
- 63. Blajchman, M.A., et al., *Hemostatic function, survival, and membrane glycoprotein changes in young versus old rabbit platelets.* J Clin Invest, 1981. **68**(5): p. 1289-94.
- 64. Rand, M., et al., *Density subpopulations of rabbit platelets: size, protein, and sialic acid content, and specific radioactivity changes following labeling with 35S-sulfate in vivo.* Blood, 1981. **57**: p. 741-746.
- 65. Dale, G.L., et al., *Demonstration that thiazole-orange-positive platelets in the dog are less than 24 hours old*. Blood, 1995. **85**(7): p. 1822-5.
- 66. Harrison, P., et al., *Performance of the platelet function analyser PFA-100 in testing abnormalities of primary haemostasis*. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis, 1999. **10**(1): p. 25-31.
- 67. Michelson, A., et al., *In vivo tracking of platelets: circulating degranulated platelets rapidly lose suface P-selectin but continue to circulate and function.* Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., U.S.A., 1996. **93**: p. 11877-11882.
- 68. Berger, G., D. Hartwell, and D. Wagner, *P-selectin and platelet clearance*. Blood, 1998. **92**: p. 4446-4452.
- 69. Italiano, J.J., et al., *Mechanisms and implications of platelet discoid shape*. Blood, 2003. **101**: p. 4789-4796.
- 70. Steiner, M. and S. Vancura, *Asymmetrical loss of sialic acid from membrane glycoproteins during platelet aging*. Thromb Res., 1985. **40**: p. 465-471.
- 71. Kotze, H., et al., *Influence of platelet membrane sialic acid and platelet-associated IgG on ageing and sequestration of blood platelets in baboons*. Thromb Haemost., 1993. **18**: p. 676-680.
- 72. Khansari, N. and H.H. Fudenberg, *Immune elimination of aging platelets by autologous monocytes: role of membrane-specific autoantibody*. Eur J Immunol, 1983. **13**(12): p. 990-4.
- 73. Wallace, E., et al., *Collection and transfusion of blood and blood components in the United States, 1989.* Transfusion, 1993. **33**: p. 139-144.
- 74. Murphy, S. and F. Gardner, *Effect of storage temperature on maintenance of platelet viability -- deleterious effect of refrigerated storage*. N Engl J Med, 1969. **280**: p. 1094-1098.
- 75. Becker, G., et al., *Studies of platelet concentrates stored at 22°C and 4°C*. Transfusion, 1973. **13**: p. 61-68.
- Slichter, S. and L. Harker, *Preparation and storage of platelet concentrates. II. Storage variables influencing platelet viability and function.* Brit. J. Haemat., 1976.
 34: p. 403-419.
- 77. Valeri, C.R., *Hemostatic effectiveness of liquid-preserved and previously frozen human platelets*. N Engl J Med, 1974. **290**(7): p. 353-8.

- 78. Kuehnert, M., et al., *Transfusion-transmitted bacterial infection in the United States, 1998 through 2000.* Transfusion, 2001. **41**(12): p. 1493-1499.
- 79. Currie, L., et al., *Inhibition of cytokine accumulation and bacterial growth during storage of platelet concentrates at 4 degrees C with retention of in vitro functional activity*. Transfusion., 1997. **37**(1): p. 18-24.
- 80. Snyder, E. and H. Rinder, *Platelet storage--time to come in from the cold?* N Engl J Med., 2003. **348**(20): p. 2032-2033.
- 81. Brecher, M.E. and S.N. Hay, *Bacterial contamination of blood components*. Clin Microbiol Rev, 2005. **18**(1): p. 195-204.
- 82. AuBuchon, J.P., et al., *Preliminary validation of a new standard of efficacy for stored platelets*. Transfusion, 2004. **44**(1): p. 36-41.
- 83. van Rhenen, D., et al., *Transfusion of pooled buffy coat platelet components prepared with photochemical pathogen inactivation treatment: the euroSPRITE trial.* Blood, 2003. **101**(6): p. 2426-2433.
- 84. Murphy, S., *What's so bad about old platelets?* Transfusion, 2002. **42**(7): p. 809-11.
- 85. Murphy, S. and F.H. Gardner, *Platelet storage at 22 degrees C: role of gas transport across plastic containers in maintenance of viability.* Blood, 1975. **46**(2): p. 209-18.
- 86. White, J., *Ultrastructural changes in stored platelets*. Blood Cells, 1992. **18**: p. 461-475.
- 87. Gulliksson, H., et al., *Storage of platelets in additive solutions: a multicentre study of the in vitro effects of potassium and magnesium.* Vox Sang, 2003. **85**(3): p. 199-205.
- 88. Murphy, S., *The efficacy of synthetic media in the storage of human platelets for transfusion*. Transfus Med Rev, 1999. **13**(3): p. 153-63.
- 89. Gulliksson, H., *Defining the optimal storage conditions for the long-term storage of platelets*. Transfus Med Rev, 2003. **17**(3): p. 209-15.
- 90. van der Meer, P.F., *Platelet additive solutions: a future perspective*. Transfus Clin Biol, 2007. **14**(6): p. 522-5.
- 91. Administration, F.a.D., *Guidance for Industry For Platelet Testing and Evaluation of Platelet Substitute Products Draft Guidance*. Rockville, MD, 1999: p. 1-7.
- 92. Murphy, S., et al., In vitro assessment of the quality of stored platelet concentrates. The BEST (Biomedical Excellence for Safer Transfusion) Task Force of the International Society of Blood Transfusion. Transfus Med Rev, 1994. **8**(1): p. 29-36.
- 93. Ishida, A., et al., *Clinical factors influencing posttransfusion platelet increment in patients undergoing hematopoietic progenitor cell transplantation--a prospective analysis.* Transfusion, 1998. **38**(9): p. 839-47.
- 94. Rebulla, P., et al., *The threshold for prophylactic platelet transfusions in adults with acute myeloid leukemia. Gruppo Italiano Malattie Ematologiche Maligne dell'Adulto.* N Engl J Med, 1997. **337**(26): p. 1870-5.
- 95. Wandt, H., et al., Safety and cost effectiveness of a 10 x 10(9)/L trigger for prophylactic platelet transfusions compared with the traditional 20 x 10(9)/L trigger: a prospective comparative trial in 105 patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood, 1998. **91**(10): p. 3601-6.
- 96. Murphy, S. and F.H. Gardner, *Platelet storage at 22 degrees C; metabolic, morphologic, and functional studies.* J Clin Invest, 1971. **50**(2): p. 370-7.
- 97. Holme, S., W.A. Heaton, and P. Whitley, *Platelet storage lesions in second-generation containers: correlation with in vivo behavior with storage up to 14 days.* Vox Sang, 1990. **59**(1): p. 12-8.

- 98. Slichter, S. and L. Harker, *Preparation and storage of platelet concentrates. I. Factors influencing the harvest of viable platelets from whole blood.* Brit. J. Haemat., 1976. **34**: p. 395-402.
- Schlichter, S. and L. Harker, *Preparation and storage of platelet concentrates II. Storage variables influencing platelet viability and function.* Brit J Haemat, 1976. 34: p. 403-419.
- 100. Murphy, S. and F.H. Gardner, *The effect of temperature on platelet viability*. Vox Sang, 1969. **17**(1): p. 22.
- 101. Rock, G. and A. Figueredo, *Metabolic changes during platelet storage*. Transfusion, 1976. **16**(6): p. 571-9.
- Slichter, S.J., In vitro measurements of platelet concentrates stored at 4 and 22°C: correlation with postrtansfusion platelet viability and function. Vox Sang, 1981. 40: p. suppl 1, 72-86.
- 103. Rinder, H. and E. Snyder, *Activation of platelet concentrate during preparation and storage*. Blood Cells, 1992. **18**(3): p. 445-456.
- 104. Rinder, H.M. and K.A. Ault, *Platelet activation and its detection during the preparation of platelets for transfusion*. Transfus Med Rev, 1998. **12**(4): p. 271-87.
- 105. Rinder, H., et al., *Progressive platelet activation with storage: evidence for shortened survival of activated platelets after transfusion*. Transfusion, 1991. **31**(5): p. 409-414.
- Triulzi, D., T. Kickler, and H. Braine, *Detection and significance of alpha granule membrane protein 140 expression on platelets collected by apheresis*. Transfusion, 1992. **32**(6): p. 529-533.
- 107. Fijnheer, R., et al., *Detection of platelet activation with monoclonal antibodies and flow cytometry. Changes during platelet storage.* Transfusion, 1990. **30**(1): p. 20-5.
- 108. Snyder, E.L., et al., *Occurrence of the release reaction during preparation and storage of platelet concentrates.* Vox Sang, 1981. **41**(3): p. 172-7.
- 109. Perrotta, P.L., C.L. Perrotta, and E.L. Snyder, *Apoptotic activity in stored human platelets*. Transfusion, 2003. **43**(4): p. 526-35.
- 110. Zucker, M. and J. Borrelli, *Reversible alteration in platelet morphology produced by anticoagulants and by cold*. Blood, 1954. **28**: p. 524-534.
- 111. Babic, A., et al., *In vitro function and phagocytosis of galactosylated platelet concentrates following long-term refrigeration*. Transfusion, 2006. **47**(3): p. 442-451.
- 112. Hoffmeister, K., et al., *The clearance mechanism of chilled blood platelets*. Cell, 2003. **10**(112): p. 87-97.
- 113. Leytin, V., et al., *Role of platelet surface glycoprotein Ibalpha and P-selectin in the clearance of transfused platelet concentrates.* Transfusion, 2004. **44**(10): p. 1487-95.
- 114. Sandgren, P., et al., *Storage of buffy-coat-derived platelets in additive solutions at 4 degrees C and 22 degrees C: flow cytometry analysis of platelet glycoprotein expression.* Vox Sang., 2007. **93**(1): p. 27-36.
- 115. Reimers, H.J., et al., *In vitro and in vivo functions of thrombin-treated platelets*. Thromb Haemost, 1976. **35**(1): p. 151-66.
- 116. Valeri, C., et al., *Effect of thrombopoietin alone and a combination of cytochalasin B* and ethylene glycol bis(beta-aminoethyl ether) N,N'-tetraacetic acid-AM on the survival and function of autologous baboon platelets stored at 4 degrees C for as long as 5 days. Transfusion., 2004. **44**(6): p. 865-870.
- 117. Winokur, R. and J. Hartwig, *Mechanism of shape change in chilled human platelets*. Blood, 1995. **85**: p. 1796-1804.

- 118. Scharf, R. and P. Hanfland, *Platelet storage lesions: analysis of platelet membrane glycoproteins and platelet-derived microparticles by fluorescence-activated flow cytometry*. Transfus. Sci., 1993. **14**: p. 189-194.
- 119. Wandall, H.H., et al., *Galactosylation does not prevent the rapid clearance of longterm, 4{degrees}C-stored platelets.* Blood, 2008. **111**(6): p. 3249-56.
- 120. Dijkstra-Tiekstra, M.J., R.N. Pietersz, and P.C. Huijgens, *Correlation between the extent of platelet activation in platelet concentrates and in vitro and in vivo parameters*. Vox Sang, 2004. **87**(4): p. 257-63.
- 121. Holme, S., et al., *The expression of p-selectin during collection, processing, and storage of platelet concentrates: relationship to loss of in vivo viability.* Transfusion, 1997. **37**(1): p. 12-7.
- 122. Kim, B. and M. Baldini, *The platelet response to hypotonic shock. Its value as an indicator of platelet viability after storage.* Transfusion, 1974. **14**(2): p. 130-138.
- 123. Murphy, S. and F.H. Gardner, *Room temperature storage of platelets*. Transfusion, 1976. **16**(1): p. 2-3.
- 124. Kattlove, H.E., *Platelet preservation--what temperature? A rationale for strategy*. Transfusion, 1974. **14**(4): p. 328-30.
- 125. Kattlove, H.E., B. Alexander, and F. White, *The effect of cold on platelets. II. Platelet function after short-term storage at cold temperatures.* Blood, 1972. **40**(5): p. 688-96.
- 126. Silva, V.A. and W.V. Miller, *Platelet transfusion survey in a regional blood program.* Transfusion, 1977. **17**(3): p. 255-60.
- 127. Handin, R. and C. Valeri, *Hemostatic effectiveness of platelets stored at 22°C*. N Engl J Med, 1971. **285**: p. 538-543.
- 128. Valeri, C.R., *Circulation and hemostatic effectiveness of platelets stored at 4 C or 22 C: studies in aspirin-treated normal volunteers.* Transfusion, 1976. **16**(1): p. 20-3.
- 129. Filip, D. and R. Aster, *Relative hemostatic effectiveness of human platelets stored at 4oC and 22oC*. J. Lab. Clin. Med., 1978. **91**: p. 618-624.
- 130. Hart, G.W., M.P. Housley, and C. Slawson, *Cycling of O-linked beta-N-acetylglucosamine on nucleocytoplasmic proteins*. Nature, 2007. **446**(7139): p. 1017-22.
- 131. Varki, A., et al., *Essentials in Glycobiology*. 1999, Cold Spring Harbor, New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- 132. Varki, A., *Glycan-based interactions involving vertebrate sialic-acid-recognizing proteins*. Nature, 2007. **446**(7139): p. 1023-9.
- 133. Tsuji, T. and T. Osawa, *The carbohydrate moiety of human platelet glycocalicin: the structures of the major Asn-linked sugar chains*. J Biochem., 1987. **101**(1): p. 241-249.
- 134. Tsuji, T., et al., *The carbohydrate moiety of human platelet glycocalicin.* J. Biol.Chem., 1983. **258**: p. 6335-9.
- 135. Hoffmeister, K., et al., *Glycosylation restores survival of chilled blood platelets*. Science, 2003. **301**(5639): p. 1531-1534.
- Rumjantseva, V., Grewal, P.K., Wandall, H.H., Josefsson, E.C., Sørensen, A.L., Larson,G., Marth, J.D., Hartwig, J.H., Hoffmeister, K.M, *Dual roles for hepatic lectin receptors in the clearance of chilled platelets*. Nature Medicine, 2009. Doi 10.1038/nm.2030.
- 137. Morell, A.G., et al., *The role of sialic acid in determining the survival of glycoproteins in the circulation*. J Biol Chem, 1971. **246**(5): p. 1461-7.
- 138. Morell, A.G., et al., *Physical and chemical studies on ceruloplasmin. V. Metabolic studies on sialic acid-free ceruloplasmin in vivo.* J Biol Chem, 1968. **243**(1): p. 155-9.

- 139. Van Den Hamer, C., et al., *Physical and chemical studies on ceruloplasmin. IX. The role of galactosyl residues in the clearance of ceruloplasmin from the circulation.* J Biol Chem., 1970. **245**(17): p. 4397-4402.
- Hickman, J., et al., *Physical and chemical studies on ceruloplasmin. 8. Preparation of N-acetylneuraminic acid-1-14C-labeled ceruloplasmin.* J Biol Chem, 1970. 245(4): p. 759-66.
- 141. Ashwell, G. and T. Kawasaki, *A protein from mammalian liver that specifically binds galactose-terminated glycoproteins*. Methods Enzymol, 1978. **50**: p. 287-8.
- 142. Ashwell, G. and J. Harford, *Carbohydrate-specific receptors of the liver*. Annu Rev Biochem, 1982. **51**: p. 531-54.
- 143. Ellies, L., et al., Sialyltransferase ST3Gal-IV operates as a dominant modifier of hemostasis by concealing asialoglycoprotein receptor ligands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2002. 99(15): p. 10042-10047.
- 144. Hoyle, G.W. and R.L. Hill, *Molecular cloning and sequencing of a cDNA for a carbohydrate binding receptor unique to rat Kupffer cells*. J Biol Chem, 1988.
 263(16): p. 7487-92.
- 145. Ii, M., et al., *Molecular cloning and sequence analysis of cDNA encoding the macrophage lectin specific for galactose and N-acetylgalactosamine.* J Biol Chem, 1990. **265**(19): p. 11295-8.
- 146. Nakamura, K., et al., *Molecular cloning and functional characterization of a human* scavenger receptor with C-type lectin (SRCL), a novel member of a scavenger receptor family. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2001. **280**(4): p. 1028-35.
- 147. Ishibashi, S., R.E. Hammer, and J. Herz, *Asialoglycoprotein receptor deficiency in mice lacking the minor receptor subunit.* J Biol Chem, 1994. **269**(45): p. 27803-6.
- 148. Fadden, A.J., O.J. Holt, and K. Drickamer, *Molecular characterization of the rat Kupffer cell glycoprotein receptor*. Glycobiology, 2003. **13**(7): p. 529-37.
- Sorensen, A.L., et al., Role of sialic acid for platelet lifespan: exposure of {beta}galactose results in the rapid clearance of platelets from the circulation by asialoglycoprotein receptor-expressing liver macrophages and hepatocytes. Blood, 2009.
- 150. Grewal, P.K., et al., *The Ashwell receptor mitigates the lethal coagulopathy of sepsis.* Nat Med, 2008. **14**(6): p. 648-55.
- 151. Springer, T., *Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leucocyte emigration: The multistep paradigm.* Cell, 1994. **76**: p. 301-314.
- 152. Sutterwala, F., L. Rosenthal, and D. Mosser, *Cooperation between CR1 (CD35) and CR3 (CD11b/CD18) in the binding of complement-opsonized particles.* J. Leukoc. Biol., 1996. **59**: p. 883-890.
- 153. Thornton, B., et al., *Analysis of the sugar specifty and molecular location of the bglucan-binding lectin site of compement receptor type 3 (CD11b/D18).* J. Immonol., 1996. **156**: p. 1235-1246.
- 154. Vetvicka, V., B.P. Thornton, and G.D. Ross, Soluble beta-glucan polysaccharide binding to the lectin site of neutrophil or natural killer cell complement receptor type 3 (CD11b/CD18) generates a primed state of the receptor capable of mediating cytotoxicity of iC3b-opsonized target cells. J Clin Invest, 1996. 98(1): p. 50-61.
- 155. Cain, J., S. Newman, and G. Ross, *Role of complement receptor type three and serum opsonins in the neutrophil response to yeast*. Complement., 1987. **4**(2): p. 75-86.
- 156. Badlou, B., et al., *Role of glycoprotein Ibalpha in phagocytosis of platelets by macrophages*. Transfusion., 2006. **46**(12): p. 2090-2099.

- 157. Valeri, C., et al., *Circulation and distribution of autotransfused fresh, liquidpreserved and cryopreserved baboon platelets.* Vox Sang., 2002. **83**(4): p. 347-351.
- 158. van Rooijen, N. and E. van Kesteren-Hendrikx, "In vivo" depletion of macrophages by liposome-mediated "suicide". Methods Enzymol, 2003. **373**: p. 3-16.
- 159. Berndt, M., et al., *Purification and preliminary characterization of the glycoprotein Ib complex in the human platelet membrane*. Eur. J. Biochem, 1985. **151**(3): p. 637-649.
- 160. Ellies, L.G., et al., Sialyltransferase ST3Gal-IV operates as a dominant modifier of hemostasis by concealing asialoglycoprotein receptor ligands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2002. 99(15): p. 10042-7.
- 161. Hennet, T., et al., *Immune regulation by the ST6Gal sialyltransferase*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998. **95**(8): p. 4504-9.
- 162. Priatel, J.J., et al., *The ST3Gal-I sialyltransferase controls CD8+ T lymphocyte homeostasis by modulating O-glycan biosynthesis.* Immunity, 2000. **12**(3): p. 273-83.
- 163. Kitagawa, H. and J.C. Paulson, *Cloning of a novel alpha 2,3-sialyltransferase that sialylates glycoprotein and glycolipid carbohydrate groups*. J Biol Chem, 1994.
 269(2): p. 1394-401.
- 164. Sasaki, K., et al., *Expression cloning of a novel Gal beta (1-3/1-4) GlcNAc alpha 2,3-sialyltransferase using lectin resistance selection.* J Biol Chem, 1993. **268**(30): p. 22782-7.
- 165. Baker, G., P. Sullam, and J. Levin, *A simple, fluorescent method to internally label platelets suitable for physiological measurements.* Am. J. Hem., 1997. **56**: p. 17-25.
- 166. Kotze, H.F., et al., *Kinetics if In-111-Platelets in the Baboon: I. Isolation and labeling of a viable and representative Platelet Population.* Thrombosis and Hemostasis, 1985. **53**: p. 404-407.
- 167. Rooijen, N.v. and R.v. Nieuwmegen, *Elimination of phagocytic cells in the spleen after intravenoous injection of liposome-encapsulated dichloromethylene diphosphonate: an enzyme-histochemical study.* Cell Tissue Res., 1984. **238**: p. 355-358.
- 168. Ward, C., et al., Mocarhagin, a novel cobra venom metalloproteinase, cleaves the platelet von Willebrandt factor receptor glycoprotein Iba. Identification of the sulfated tyrosine/anionic sequence Tyr-276-Glu-282 of glycoprotein Iba as a binding site for von Willebrandt factor and a-thrombin. Biochemistry, 1996. 28: p. 8326-8336.
- 169. Reimers, H.J., et al., *Experimental modification of platelet survival*. Adv Exp Med Biol, 1977. **82**: p. 231-3.
- 170. Grewal, P.K., et al., *The Ashwell receptor mitigates the lethal coagulopathy of sepsis.* Nat Med, 2008.
- 171. Hoffmeister, K., et al., *Mechanisms of Cold-induced Platelet Actin Assembly*. J Biol Chem, 2001. **276**(27): p. 24751-24759.
- 172. Crowe, J., et al., *Stabilization of membranes in human platelets freeze-dried with trehalose*. Chem Phys Lipids, 2003. **122**(1-2): p. 41-52.
- 173. Gousset, K., et al., *Important role of raft aggregation in the signaling events of coldinduced platelet activation*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2004. **1660**(1-2): p. 7-15.
- 174. Leidy, C., et al., *Lipid phase behavior and stabilization of domains in membranes of platelets*. Cell Biochem Biophys, 2004. **40**(2): p. 123-48.
- Bergmeier, W., et al., *Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-converting enzyme (ADAM17)* mediates GPIbalpha shedding from platelets in vitro and in vivo. Circ Res, 2004. 95(7): p. 677-83.

- Ozaki, K., et al., *The differences in structural specificity for recognition and binding between asialoglycoprotein receptors of liver and macrophages*. Glycoconj J, 1995. 12(3): p. 268-74.
- Schlepper-Schafer, J., et al., *Endocytosis via galactose receptors in vivo. Ligand size directs uptake by hepatocytes and/or liver macrophages.* Exp Cell Res, 1986. 165(2): p. 494-506.
- 178. Kolb-Bachofen, V., et al., *GalNAc/Gal-specific rat liver lectins: their role in cellular recognition*. Biol Cell, 1984. **51**(2): p. 219-26.
- 179. Mason, K., et al., *Programmed anuclear cell death delimits platelet life span*. Cell., 2007. **128**(6): p. 1173-1186.
- 180. Johnson, S.A., et al., *The Mechanism of the Endothelial Supporting Function of Intact Platelets*. Exp Mol Pathol, 1964. **34**: p. 115-27.
- 181. Wojcik, J.D., et al., *Mechanism whereby platelets support the endothelium*. Transfusion, 1969. **9**(6): p. 324-35.
- 182. Wahrenbrock, M. and A. Varki, *Multiple hepatic receptors cooperate to eliminate secretory mucins aberrantly entering the bloodstream: are circulating carcer mucins the "tip of the iceberg"?* Cancer Res., 2006. **66**: p. 2433-2441.
- 183. Holgersson, J., M.E. Breimer, and B.E. Samuelsson, *Basic biochemistry of cell surface carbohydrates and aspects of the tissue distribution of histo-blood group ABH and related glycosphingolipids*. APMIS Suppl, 1992. **27**: p. 18-27.
- 184. Curtis, B.R. and R.H. Aster, *Expression of ABH antigens on platelets*. Blood, 2006.
 107(2): p. 842; author reply 842-3.
- 185. Holgersson, J., et al., *Glycolipid- and glycoprotein-based blood group A antigen* expression in human thrombocytes. A1/A2 difference. Glycoconj J, 1990. 7(6): p. 601-8.
- Cooling, L., *ABO and platelet transfusion therapy*. Immunohematology, 2007. 23(1): p. 20-33.
- Heal, J.M., N. Blumberg, and D. Masel, An evaluation of crossmatching, HLA, and ABO matching for platelet transfusions to refractory patients. Blood, 1987. 70(1): p. 23-30.
- 188. Jimenez, T.M., et al., *Factors that influence platelet recovery after transfusion: resolving donor quality from ABO compatibility.* Transfusion, 2003. **43**(3): p. 328-34.
- 189. Duguesnoy, R.J., et al., *ABO compatibility and platelet transfusions of alloimmunized thrombocytopenic patients*. Blood, 1979. **54**(3): p. 595-9.